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an[d] traveled on until he had got tired and not find[i]ng us knew 

thc?t e could not got far ahe[a]d of him and started back in search 

of us the rain the day before had take[n] the snow nearly all off 

jn the preirie end our tracks did not show was one cause why we 

did not find each other sooner we went on until night and camped 

on Sauk rivPr a stream about 30 yards wide but shoul in the summer~ 

our food :bBd verry nearly given out so ,re hed but little for our 
[noJ 

sunper a.nd breakfast andJ\signs of aney Sioux the next morni[n]g 

we followed on down tne river about ten oclock re heard guns of 

south of us this we kne to be tte Sioux and turned our course 

in their direction shortly after ·re· started in the firing tnc?t 

e heard a buck sprang up the [guiae l hed his gun down in [P] moment 

all--::.though it had a cover on it and fired a.s the deer ran from him 

as he fired the deer tumbled heels over he[a]d but was not au1te 

[deed] the indian nut e smPll l[o]ad in his gun and finished him/ffe 

the indian tu[r]ned the deer over and said he had kill[e]d the deer 

without making a hole in the s~in ho r can that be said I w[h]y 

CPnt you account for it No I said well said the Indian the . ball 

went stre.ight into the bac~ side throug[h] the entrails ana lodged 

in his shoulder the. Indien hastily took off tne skin and a con-

s.iderable quantity of the meat with 1 t ana. shouldered it and e went 

on expecting to meet ~1th some Indians but e travelled and travel[e]d 

and traveled until we g·ot tired and sat down to rest 

again and travel[e]a until dar~ and found no Indians 

we started 

that not so 

ve hPd a good roast of our venison and went [to] sleep not d[r]eeming 

of the trouble that we were to meet the next day WffiJ started early 

in the morning and traveled til about nine oclock all at once Fe 

heard a gun not [f cir l from us we gave hoop and in a few minut[e]s 
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2n Indian ct3rr&.J run[n]ing up to us. and commenc [ e ]d b oll ow[in Jg arrl 

firinf' hls gun directly Rnoth[e]r came and com~[en]ced fir[i]ng 

his gun and so on ~na. in about half a.n hour ·Vie had about one 

huna_rea wild Susse t on and wahpaten Inaians and the ildest kind 

of confusion preveilea for about half an hour Some 11Tere for 

killing us th[e]y said we were come as spies from tne Chippewas t 

to get them killed &c &c I denied all their assertions and told 

them I come to trade with them but th[e]y would not listen atal 

and kept on with their thr eats th[e]y stole my cap from me took 

Indi [a ]ns meat from nirn and gun and_ took rrrJns gun and cap from him 

and now threaten[e]d to take my goods Som[e] of the old men 

interfeerd saying this one of our traq&Jrs of the same company that 

we have at Lac quipa r le with us I tola them if th[eJy did not 

stop t~eir mischi[e]f I should report their conduct to the officer 
[?] 

at the fort they stil[l] "rere sur[l]eJj\ana two or three times some 

of them cock the[i]r guns to com[m]ence the rork of murder We 

stood and never let on or notic[e]d their murd[e] r ous intent the 
[men] . 

old men interfeRrd Pna stop[p]ed the youngAfrom killing us but I 

essure you it was [Fl] close run th[e]y held council and decided 
I 

to take us into r.,qmn to the chiefirirnin~: Devil this ,m>.m e he 

de r[i]ved from hav [i ]ng greated t h e tra6-[e ]rs and verry badly the 

Fox and Sauk Indiens hed come to .rar end found a camp of Indians 

eneampea:c on the red \'ioocl river the few on a small camp that 

was at some distance from the ma[i]n body of them and kille~ 

nee [r ]ly all of them and. mede off wi th-::::;out getting injureds the 

ma[i]n camp st 0 rted in pu[r]suit the next morni[n]g th[e Jy 
traveled all day and. al]- nig-ht and the next morni [n]g about ten 

oclock cBme in sight of tne hindmost ones the siouY had to h[o]1a 

back for some time to wait for the foot men to come up as the horse 



men \'7ere some distence in edvance finally e part of them got up 

end the Sioux mRde the attack the Fox and Socks halted and the 

Sioux rushed right onto them 2nd attacked tnem 1•ri th lance end wer 

clubs and by the t~me the hindmost of the Sioux got up the bioux 

ha.d l{illed 13 of the Fox & Socks end the foremost ones had fled 
:ff• 

by tbis tlmithe [y] se1 d th[e ]y were completely tired. out and did 
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not follow them Rny further there vre-re no Sioux killed but severel 

woundea Eimongst those w·ere this Limning Devil was wounded in the 

knee this gave him the nam[e] of limping devil he was a brave 

this men came out on horse back to meet us~ es he 

IndialCn] camn 

was still la~l!e 
but e fful wicked men, and as e moved off for the 

took me by the hand and then my guide and my man and bade us proceede 

on to his camp the Indiens i,.rere all waiting expecting the chief 

would give orders to have us all killed but no such order came and 

~e ~ent safe into camp No doubt it must have been the interpo-

sition of God that subd.ued this wic~ed chiefs heart for the time 

that our lives might -be spar[e]d When we got into camp the chief 

told his brother to take me to his lodge a~d t~e man went to an-
/ff 

oth[e]r lodge and the Indian·guide to anoth[e]r place So we were 

all sepereted 

a council was called and e were all called in and I was told 

if I would tell the truth thus that we coulde go home again but if 

I liea ~e could not go they wanted to know what I hBd come for/-;i; 

I told them I had come to trade but I hPd got out of the rout that 

I hed intended to go a.nd had fallen in with them ins teed of the 

Indians that I wanted to see I told them the Indians that I wes 

in seP:rch of wa.s the menda W£1kentens~ that hf!d left St Peters after 

I did where I expect[e]d to meet my Fife are you marri-e]d th[e]y 
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said yes I said to whorn to Kee. E! he, Eis daughter at t:b..is 

time an Inci.?n Black Toma Hawk of the lower tands came in and con-

fi[r]med my statement end said these Indians are afraid you have 

come to find rhere th[e]y are so the chippewas can come and kill/.i; 

they kept me tbere until about midnight talking and question[in]g 

me as to my resid[e]nce and made [me] promise to come back and 

bring them some povrder and balls and finally broke up and let me 

trade the few goods I had which was done in about an hours time 

the chiefs brother ,,rhilest I WEIS tradi[nJg stole one of the 

otters that I had trade end sold it to me for wampun I could not 

say a [n]y thing for t .ne least thing lVOUl [e] have started a· fuss a.nd 

we woula heve been killed so I seid noth[i]ng tut give him t he 

1·ramuun and gBther[e ]d up my furs es auick as possible end ti [e ]d 

them up and set down on them they kept me a orisoner for tnree 
[?] 

days and we had [to] move with them in campA every day finally the 

4th day in the morning the chief gave us an escort of 20 braves 

mostly old. men to ·acc6mpPny us one hPlf day journy.::::::__::: so th[e]y 

conducted us on our road until about noon and halted and sat down 

and h?a a smoke together and shook hands and we seperate'a. and I 

~ill assure we traveled hard t~e rema[i]nd[e]r of tne day and got 

on to the Mississippi and campe[d] all most tired to deathowe 

had trav[e]l[e]d so hard to get out of the reach of those hateful 

crea ture,f in the morni [n Jg we were off by light without any f ood/lf 

we travel [e ]d all day and at ni ght camped. by Pikes rapids a place 

where general_ Pike T'lfintered when exuloring the Mississippi river/f 

in t he night it cornmen[ce]d snowing and snowed all day we 

shouldered our uacks et dayli~ht end on trudged t~rough t h e snow 

storm this was the t h ird day we had been without food I ask 
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my man and Indian what they would choose providing they could have 

their wish for break fast the f renchman e good drink of brandy 

the Indien said a good loef of bread and a good cup of tea or coffee 

I told. the Indian he was goodeal of my opinion stil r· would[like] e 

good piece of fat bear meat 0 yes sa1d the Indian that would make 

the belley and hair both slick we traveled on allmost woried out 

through the snow storm and about 3 o c P. M we arrived home once 

more a place I once thought I s hould never see a gain 

When I was first tBken prisoner by t he Sioux the Chippewas ca.me 

in in large numbers to hear the neaws:::=:z:::: and they said it >las 

one of the gre[a]test wonders in the world t ha t we were not all 

killed the mother of the Indian was along with them She came to 

see hur son and told me plainly tha.t if hur son had been killed she 

would have killed me on my return without him so it was a provi-

dential escape~ all round I staid at home and recruited 

strength e little and fixed up for anothe[r] trip for Fort Snelling 

as I was entirely out of goods there were 3 chiefs that wished 

to go and 4 other Indians myself and one man made the party-::,,. 9 in 

all We all got good snow shoes made and while re were getting 

ready one Mr wm Aitkin a trader from Sandy lake came doo"'bl.111 [sic] 

and stop[p]ed in an old pBrtly broken down trading house about half 

a mile above me on an Island he invited me to call over and see 

him so I went with my interpreter and made him a visit and and [sic] 

gave him an invitation to visit me So he called in and we talked 

OVPr the trade and some other matturs a short time and Mr Aitkin 

left but invited me to visit him at Sandy lake I told him I 

probably would after I came back from Fort Snelling_ 

·by this time I had about 20 packs of fu.rs and pel try I showed 
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them to Mr . A he looke[d] with astonishment and said those are 

mine by rights for all t :iese Indians have ere di t of me I said I 

had paid for them I believea th[e]y were mine Now yrs [yours'?] 

he said and I will watch you after thi'S and so he did keep 

three or 4 men amongst the Indians all the time i:vatchi [n]g them 

and as fast as they vrould kill s kins they would take them from the 

Indians but the Indians always would find some chances to hide 

a bear skin or some other furs and bring them to me finally we 

got ready and started for St .Peters or Fort Snelling on snow shoes 

J the first day I got along verry well for a new beginner re eJ<-

nected to cemn with some Indians the first ni~h[t] from Mill lPke 

or Rum river but vre go t disapp ointed and it ras bad business 

for us as we had take[n] no provisions \'Tith us expecting to get a 

sup-oly from the Indians but they were gone and what to do we 

hardly knew So ti-ro good r·.relkers said tney ould go in sef!rch of 

them 

the sun was ebout two hours high when th[eJy started and I 

with t he baland [sic] of tne cornpRny rerne[i]ned in the old ca_mp 

without any supner We built up a ~ood fire end laid down and 

took a sleep ~e slept until about nine oc We got up and made 

a fire and warm[e]d un but no Indians came back ,ve waited and 

waited at last they~ came about midnight We enquired what 

had kept t em so long the [y] said th[e ]y had follow(e ]d the 

trail of the Indians which hPd taken them a long ways round and to 

Mill lake which they se.id was not far off to go straight and tnat 

thRt [sic] t nere l"PS a trail t hc:it tn[e]y cam[e] in that we could 

go in two hours but th[e]y could get no provisions What to do · 

e~ain was e subject to be considered about fPtting provisions for 
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1.:~ [said] · 
the journ[e]y the old chief es A .le could go by l'ill lake and Snake 

river nnd by so doing find In6.ian ca.mus all slong and sleep i'rith 

them ni ght s and if th[e]y have any food th[e]y will feed us for 

the night We were all anxious to go to Fort Snelling all the 

journ[e]y by this rout :11as long and some what doubtful about get-

ting provisions I consent ed to go end we started off in the ni ght 

about hal[f]nest nine but I found the snow shoes had strained the 

cords of my instep verry much and it was with much difficulty that 

I could keen up however I hobbled along and finally we got in to 

Kill Lack about mid night and an·en [sic] old French man by the 

name of Leroy ·w:ls trading ther[e] for Mr. wm . Aitken t he old man 

@."Ot us some rice made or gathered by the In6.ians and had it cooked/#' 

Bo we had some warm rice and a little sugar with it which made us 

a verry good supner as we were verry hungry having traveled all 

day and pert of the niFht without eating the old man said they 

had to lJve uoor as the trade ould not afford any great expense 

and th[e]y had mostly to live on fish and rice . he saide they only 

got flour about once a week · as for uork th[e ]y never thou!'.tht of 

such a thing this old ma[n]s daugh ter was marled--::: to Mr Aitkin 

as his second wife Mr A was expected there tnat ni gr~t but he did 

not come I wish he had for I could of got some provisions of him 

but the old man was afraid of his master and dared · not furnish 

us any as we were opposition trade[r]s and the custom i'n this 

country starve out run out and drive out every opposition either 

by fair or foul means-c- ~thet th[e]y possibly can in· the morning 

the morning [sic] the old french man gave us anoth[e]r dish of 

rice. this wild rice is verry similar to our white rice as to 

nutriment but is quite dark couler [color?] its nutri11ent powers 
is qui te feeble and does not give much strength to the body (in 

I 
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the people of this countery have to eate it - ·rhich is simply boiled 

in water When they can get some greas[e] to put in it it helps 

to give nutriment 8lso SU@-'ar is used with it whicb makes it palat-

eable a nerson CE!n eat a quart aft[e]r it is cooked and in two 

hours after will be RS hungry as ever the Indians had been round 

to the camps and gather[e]d a little rice that had been parched 

which is verry good to eat rhen travelling it prevents thirst 

and relieves the annetite for a little while 

We started eerlej in the morning for Snake river re had a. 

track most of the dey we trav[e]led the whole a.ay and onley stoped 

once thet was about 2 . oc to eat a mouthful of wild rice and on we 

went, and traveled until dusk when ~·re came [to] a trading post1 "' 

the traders name t·ras Johnson this as the hardest days travel 

that we had all the journey --=:: the distance I do not know but I 

think it must be all of 40 or 50 miles Mr Johnson elcomed into 
[house] 

hi~and gave us such as he had & that ~as wild rice simply boiled 

in water We rnede our reu~st but we had been eating rice so long 

,.ri thout seasoning that we did not relish it verry ·J'ell but still 

we had to eat some Mr Johnson said there Y.'as no game about where 

[they] lived and th[e]y seldom ever had meat once in a ~mile th[e ]y 

got a little grease from the Indians but had to pay a great price 

for it ~r Johnson said he came into the countery from Lake 

Superior by the way of lakes and small rivers in bark canoes I 

think he said tn[e}y hi:id near one hundred portages to make before 

he reached his trading post he said the whole trade wes mrth 

only ebout two thousand dollArs a. year and it hardley pP16 the 

trouble and expense but as he ms in the trade he did not know 

what to do for a living onley to follow.up tne trade . We hPd 
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[e] good lPrge chim [ne ]y fire and and [sic] verry w?rm room so ·we 

lAid down to rest/;ut I .WFlS so tired that I did not rest for e long 

time the Indians went [to] sleep in e few minutes and did not 

wake until near morning Wnen we awoke Mr Jonnson hed [a] large 

kettle~ful of rice boil[e]d in ater as usual We eat as much as 

'\•re could Mr Johnson m2de mPny apologies for the poor food he had 

to offer and wren we started he geve us a little to carry wi t.h us/ · 

in the flt.optea morning we stBrted eC<rley ano traveled tnrough pine 

forests sll t~e dPy as we hPd done the day before and some of the 

handsome st pines ttat[ ,ve] J:i-.od seen in the c ountery we traveled all 

day without eating again and part [of] the time on snow shoes 

just as the sun was setting we came to an Indian camp and 

stoped for the nignt we went into the[i]r tents and sat down 1 

the Indisns told us they were starving and could not give us any 

thing to eat the tents 1-(h.ich ~ere principally mPd[e] of bark from 

the birch tree or rushes from the ponds end lPkes, ere open Pnd 
.. 

cold all t.rflt I SPW ebout the Cflmn y,ras one little Dike fish in 

the eatable wp,y the wornpn cooked it in a ~mall kettle and. eat it/ if 

we laid down but did not rest much being very cold and hungry ·in 

the morn[i]ng we sterted on our snow shoes without supper or break-

fast and traveled until about noon Wt.en tne Inaiciris hRlted and 

took out their little bag of rice we all eat a [li]ttle and started 

on througn .swamps and humoc~s end a most awful country to travel 

on snow shoes Sometimes I would pet a tr1p end my snow shoes ¥ould 

throw me ten feet ahePd into trie snow I would plunge by the time 

I would get up t:r·_e Indians would be some distance ahead of me the[n] 

I woul [d] have to woric ana_ run and worrey myself most to death to 
' catch up again for I hated to give out and tell them to wait for me 
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l~o we worked on until night but I was awful tired tHe Inciians 

made a good fire and e sat d~wn and dried our show shoes and 

mocica.sins the[y] pulled out the bfllance of the rice and we eat 

it which r.ras but a few mo[u ]thfuls apeaCP _::-- _ 

better camp than we hPd \·rhen we camoed with the Infia[ns] tne night 

before for we could make a good 12rge fire and 1verm up v•ell which 

is ;::1 great thing in traveling to get 1· arm and dry at night then 

you cHn sleep Eind you will feel much better for traveling in the 

mo.rning We started earley on our snow shoes about noon we 

came to oak openings and our snow shoes did not trip us up so often 

as ther[e] was not so much under brusn at night .we camped in the 

oak evenings Wrtllst the Indiane were hunting about for wood for 

:the nigh[t] one of_ them found El de[a]a deer and cried o_ut good . 
luck what is it we ell sung out a deer he said the Indians 

all give ~ hoop of joy end 1·rent 'too see the deer had been dead 

for a lon~ time but was whole and froze and covered with snov # 

the Indian~ dug it out and got it up to the fire and thawed it a 

little and got. t ne hide off ana chop[p]ed it up . the meat was 

fairly black th[e]y ha·a a small kettle along th[e]y melted 

sno,r Eina_ filled tf'>e[ilr 1~ettlP E1nd boiled the meat but, oh , what 

Pn awful smell cAme out when the meet ~ot hot but the Indians 

stuck too it pnd cooked it and eat heBrty of it . I tried to eat 

some but as hungry es I was I could not ·eat t n e meR.t It was so 

old and smelt so bad ifrom this point b~ hard walking on our sno v 

shoes we got into fort Snelling the col. command[i ]ng ~.ia s about 

the first that I met as I went into t ne Fort he i•ras quite sur-

prised to see me and mPde some inquiri[e]s where I was from ~c &c 
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finally I tolc5. him I was verry hungry Why have you been starving/I 
I told him we hRd been nine d8ys living on a little wild rice he 

told me to come in to his quarters he told his wife Mrs Snelling 
one of the most accomplished 8nd charitable ladies of the fort at 

that time in a few moments she brought me a large bowl of soup 
but none but a hungry person could tell hovr good it tasted With 
many thanks I left them and went on to our treringe> Dost 2 miles 
above the fort where Mr Lamont ·Tas in charge all were glad to 
see us they soon hed som[e] food cooked for us and we retired to 
re et t!,e next morningc:> 1,..re all felt verry tired stiff and sore 1t: 

but in a day or two we all felt well again 

I had not been here but two days when my wife arrived She 
had been out with the Indians on a hunt and it was this camp t:tat 
I was in .rearch of when we got lost anc1 fell in li th the Su.ssetons 
and missed find[iJng my l:T'[:f[e]t=is I expected ·after they had put 
up their tents I went to see them in their lodges or tents My 
wife nresented me with a fine boy born 1·rhile th[eJy were on the 
hunt in december 1824 . I staid with tnem about a ~eek 

About this time an 016 Susseton chief arrived from the upper 
country at Mr LRmonts Mr L had ma~r[iJea his daugnter and the 
old chief had come down to see tbem also went to tne b1 ort to see 
the commanding officer I ~ent along to interoret We were taken 
into the col office and in a :few minutes the col cam[e] in and 
spoke to tne old chife he got up and shook hands with the col 
and th[e]y entered into some common conversation about business 
of tne· times &c finally 0 ol Snelling asked tne chief if he knew 
any thing about some cattle that had been killed by the Sioux 

Indians the sun[me Jr before the chief said tnat some white people 
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•ere driving P drove of cattle through the Indian country going 

north to the British Settlement on Red ri v·er and the Indians· had 

demanded pay of the ·rhi te men to let them pass without pay end 

the Indians held a council emongst the Braves snd th[e]y agreed 

to go and take pay themselves by killing 2 or three cattle. So 
off the band starteo/-:ome on .horseback some on foot hooping and 

hAllowing·and as soon as the driver saw the Indians they cattle 

started upon a run and the Indians after tnem some on horse some 
on foot and commen[ce ]d firing at the cattle th[e Jy tilled several 

and wounded several more and a part thfo]ycould not overtake and 

run wild into the pr0irie the drivur turned about and went home 

a.nd lost their whole drove the col asked the .chief why he did 

not stop them the ola man said when hungry Indians see buffa.lo 

or beef before them th[e]y are like a parsel of hungry wolves and 

cannot be made to listen 

Well said col Snelling I am going to have some kind of satis-

faction for t his kina. of conduct you are not a going to destroy 

whole dr [o ]ves of cattle that are passing pea.c [a }bly through your 

countery the old chief began to smell the rat and made all sorts 

of excu~es but col Snel1in¢ told him that excuses came to[o] late 

and thPt he should put him in prison ~nd sent for a guard of 

soldiers they came and the col told the old chief he must go 

with the soldiers he rose and went the col told him if he 

attempted to run away frbm the soldiers tne) wbuld sboot him the 
old chief seid. nothing but went aui [e-]tly along to the guard house 

the sun WPS not [more] than an hour h i gh about half an hour 

after Lieut Camp came in and said that the Indian was shot we 

all ren out to see and found that the old man had mace an excue [e] 
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to go out and i;rot a little in 8dvance of the sen.tinal and st~rted 

on a run . the sentinel fired and brought the old man down the 

old man had heard of others esc&ping and thought he could do the 

same but he got caught this time the sentinal broke the old mans 

arm anc fractured the whole bone from the elbow to within ~bout 

2 inches of the should[er] and the ball went throu[h and struck 

his side and hit a rib and run round the rib to the pit of the 

stomach skin deep and there lo~ged between the skin and the bone 

and the arm had to be amputated but the su[r]geon Doct Purcell was 

dead So the serveant of t~e Bosoital undertook the job and tied 

the old man to a ·table and "rent to work and in about two minutes 

the arm was off durin · the onerati on the old man did ·not let on 

that it hurt him in the least When they got through he asked if 

they we re done I told him he had but one errn now Wel .l then 
[sic] 

give me a smoke he saaide./\ana_ did not appea.r to mind what tra.s 

going on than if th[e]y were cutting away at [a] piece of leather 
[F J 

the old man was kept ~n .the hospital about.I\ month end_ his arm 

. about we11/then the Col let him go Lieut Camp above mentioned 

gc:ive the soldiers an extra gill of his.t<.[eJy for a month for the 

good shot he made breeking tile chiefs a.rm and st oping him from 

getting off for they had imbibed the idea that they could run away 

from the soldiers with the greatest ease 

after this fuss was over.I sterte~ back to my wintering place 

again I got a few goods and made little packages for each of 

my Indians and we started this time i·re took a new rout and went 

by the Mississinpi the first day te went to the falls and camned 

with sergeant Spauld inp.t::~. in charge of t.r..e sa mill the [sic] hP.d a 

good WPrm room and ~ave us . a ~ood warm supoer hich we ell enjoyed 

l 
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J 

l in the morning~ i·re st2rted e2rly ana t-'ent to Elk river from there 

re went home in three aays so thflt we mcide the journy in five days 

home again found Pll well and [e] number of Inci.ens awaiting for 

us to trade I done up what little trading there ·ras to be done 

hen ~r wm Aitkin cam[e] do rn again and insisted on my going up 

·t o Senay lake i th him So I f ixe6.. up and one man with me and 1-1'e 

started for another tramp of three days Mr. A had a dog train we 
[a] 

put ell our bed[d]ing- on and once in while ~r Ai t.kin would take 

turns and ride/ffhe first oey ·re went about 45 miles to a place 

called by t be chippewas Rabit house in passing a place call[e]d 

Pattersons ?api ds ~r A tol6 me the rapids were named after a man 

that had been killed there by the Sioux Indians a party of men 

had been sent out to the Indian camps and having collected a con-

siderable quRntity· of fu rs and meat several Infi i ans came back with 

the ~en to help t~em in with their loads as all was.crirri[e]d 

by straps over tile head i t would ta'rn quite a company to carry i . .rhat 

two horses JOUld draw this comp[aJny of iliites end Indians camped 

at this place for t he night tn[e]y had built a large fire out of 

old dry pine eRt their su~per and dried their snow shoes and mock-

a sins one of t~e Chi ppewas went d0wn to the river to get a 

drink ' 1lnen ne came be.ck to the fire he told his coILert?dsc::::i t..-1at 

there was some nersons walking on t:r1e ice for tne water works up 

and a own FJll the time just like when people walk on the ice some 

others vrent end looked st trie water Borne times it would sheke . 

some times it would be still tnen again all at once the water would 

begin to shake agRin Some believed nnd some did not the first 

one thet made tne discovery SRid he believed t Lere Nas a war party 

was on the river snd he was a goinf to prepare f~r the worst So 

he uut on his mockasins pnd f i xed up his pack Some of the parcy 
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done the saI!1e but some would not believe ~med laid d.own ~rnd went 

to sleep About mid not Lsl2,J here came a volley of balls e.nd 

arrows i~to the cemn there were 4 or five Indieris killed the 

first five & one frenc.nman Patterson All that were left took to 

their heels end ran for for [sic] the[i]r ·lives the Sioux 

ch2rged upon the carrro and a Pspatched those t~.1.Pt were yet 2li ve 

and scalped them then gathered uu the booty which ·was consider-

able of furs and meat and hunted round to see if th[e]y could 

find any wounded two fret'lchmen that h·aa uut on tneir mockasins 

tr~rew themselves under a . lE rge tree thet laid a little un from 

the ground here the[y] laid trembling all the time ~he Indians 

"rere hunting the frencnmen said tne Indians step[pJed over. the 

log 2 or t.:iree times and thinks the Indians must of seen them but 

did not want to kill tr.em Some of the InciiEJns and frenchmen run 

off barefooted and froze tneir feet verry bad and some of them · 

died the ·tvo laid under t · e log until the Sioux went off wnen 

they cam[e] forth out on ~neir moc~asins and stPrte~ for home emoty 

And lignt AS the Sioux hAd c;:irr[i]ed off ev[e]ry thin£ that was of 

a[n]y use to them 

We left rebit house e~rly tLe next morning and went [to] 

c led.fir lake wnere tnere ivere two treders viz . Mr Oakes .and AsniTJcin //I 
here passed tre remainder of the day in c0inpany with these gentle-

men 1·rhere we ~:Jere treAted verry kindley for the night 1rnd· had 

some fine white fish for breakf~rnt and stcirtea early for Sandy 

l?ke where we arrived some time after dArk tpis day we traveled 

about 55 miles our men did_ not get ·in until about midnight the 

next morning-we ~ere all verry stiff and tired I rema[t]ned here 

with Mr Aitkin ttree days Mr A had made verry good im0rovements 
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for an Indian count[r]y 

At this place Bendy lake the North West fur company once had 
a trad[i]ng nost end was broken up after Lieut Z. M. Pike essended 
the ~'iesisinui the emericen fur company cern[e] in end tore do1n 
the old North West CompBnys fort' on Sandy leke and mooved over onto 
the Mississi~ 

.- --
Lwh ere ~ r Aitkin was no r liv[i]ng and building 'he had a fine 

gerden and a lPrge quantity of good vegetables I spent three days 
verry pleasently with Mr . A. and on the 4th day in the morning I 
started vri th my mPn for home a_gain went home in three days by the 

Pet arm Pnd the snow res beginning to time it was beginning t~melt ef'ter we pass crow Is1·and _ at .the 
mquth of the Oro r fin£ river tLe MississinDi is .very much like the 
Minnesnte woody bottoms Pnd verry crooked only the Miss'.)i Lsic] 
hPs the most ·water I got home I round tne Indians waiting for 
me to get some amunition to go into the su~er bush for these people 
mPke lerge quantities of sugar the last one to start was the Bole 
in the dc>y the chief of Sandy lP~e ch[i}0p[e]was he started on 
the 2° of ~.t.arch 1825 1825[sicJ he hRd not gone far before sorne 
wild geese passed OVPr him end he fired and killed two of them and 
re turned bPck and brou f:: ht them both to me We now comrnenc[e]d 
rne~in~ our packs of furs and on the last of M8rch t~e ice moved 
out of the f..issiui t:Le first of april I went down in a canoe to 
get some more goods ~e found the ice had blocked up the river at 
a place called tne little falls ~e tciok our cc>noe out and made 
a portage round the ice and went on down and in two days we went 
to rort Snelling I f ouna_ all well -Y wife and boy were all in 
good heplth I staid only three days and stPrted back in my canoe 

mPde ? porte Re round the fells qnd 
i th two men and a few goods I ·went as far as the falls an~heard 
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that ~r Bailey had erriv[e]a at rort Snelling an I went back to 

see him to see if I coulc do Rnythinf ith him about our old co-

pPrtnership business but he only laugned at me and [said] that I 

~s verry impudent to talk to him about an old debt tnAt hed been 

settled (by cneating) a year ago Be I ~ent back and too~ my 

canoe P~ein for my rintering ground We had strong heed inds 

it took US 6 Or 7 deys to get up. OnP da;1 e run under 8 leani r n Jg 

tree our can:oJe ~ot a turn on tne men and came broad side a inst 

the tree and came near capsizeing us and it was with much diffi-

culty thPt e could get hold of en ax to cut tne ranches so re 

could get from the tree our situation was so precarious that we 

could hPrdly stir for fear of upseting the canoe the water ras 

verry deep end the current verry rapid and for a few mom[e]nts we 
/. 

were in grept dPn~er of loosing all 'and ~rooably our 'lives lso 
[out l / 

ve ot E"fter some hard ,rork against tne ,rind And. current and found 

all ".rell but anxious to see us as they rnre out of' provisions 1e 

rai ted f'e1 <iays gathered wnat furs e'could and st rted for nome 

or Fort Snellin~ BfRin . e ~ent dodn in one dey n<i a helf 120 

miles by t~e river 

Abou tnis t"me some emigrants came through from Red river 

of the orth on the[i]r ray the Sioux had att[a]cked them and 

·illed so~e of ttem and tn k one ~ite child prison°r Lieu Green 

i.res ordered to LF1 1c<:e _ravPrse v-•here the Indians had tre cr1ild And 

to take the c~ild e1rl bring it down to ~ort Snelling So he ent 

nd the Incisns gave up the chil~ qitnout ~ny ceremony as they 

fea Le Col ~nelling the rhole extent of tr-_e Sioux countery the 

Sioux h d com~itted this outrage becaus[e] col Snellin n d taken 

one of thefi]r chiefs end cut his arm off for killinf cattle the 



78 . 

white people thi:it 1.-rere left when t h e S[i]oux fired upon them fled 

bee~ to the Pritish Settlement and the British made no demand for 

the murder therefore nothinf was done about it and in fact it is 

suppos[e]d that the British did not care any thing about the affair 
[not] 

for th[e]y did!Jlike to have their ueople le ve their coloney AS 

these hPd a.lready left t h em end moved into Iowa and His consin (other 

•1ise ~Jichi gan) at that time 

after I go t do:11n with my furs I stoped about a month with my 

wife and boy this summer the Indians had all been to Prairie du 

chien to make a treaty of peace the nations for 300 or 400 miles 

round cam [e] ;into c~:inix [<c] . verry larg [e] cone ourse of Indians 

assembled Gove[r]n-or] Clark and some others were commissioners}#-

The object of tr.e treaty was for t ne Indians to make peace amongst 

themselves and the white people Wnilst the Indians were making 

peace at Prairie duchien the Indians rere war[r]ing at home So 

if peace aas made hostilities were es soon commenc[e]d a gain and 

the peace amounted to nothing although it cost tne govt many 

thousand dollars 

durin? the last spring a duel ~as fought between Lieut hunter 

and col Snellings son Joseph the col heard that the parties nad 

gone out to fight and sent a gfi:} rd out and stoped them the parties 

moved off F1nd the guard went home end the combattants met in another 

place and exchanged shots t h e col son had the end of one of his 

fore fingers s hot off this ended the strife and t ney rent home/;;9':::. 

Some time after this another duel was fOU/2'ht bet •Te en Lieut_ Baxl ey 

and cap t Leon rd they fired some 6 or 8 shots apiece Lieut 

Baxley got one shot the most cap Leon~rds second forgot to cock 

his pist-ol but Lleut Baxle, ' misseo/teconds interfered and tried. 

to recincile matters but not~ing would or could be done satisfac-
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torily and at it they went again I believe the sth shot Lieut ---
E.?xleys ball struck cap Leonard in the corner of the eye near the 

temple but did not kill him allthough it came verry near killing 

him . Lieut Bc?xley hPd 32 bBll holes through his clothes but did 

not draw blood once Capt Leonard i:·ras sutler for the fort he was 

boarding with Lieut Baxley ana wes a verry vaain wic~ed man and it 

~s for some bad language uused before Mrs Baxley that brought on 

their~ troubles I believe there rere one or two other chalanges 

and I believe one of them excnanged shots And then made up and one 

pRrty their_ seconds made the pPrties settle or drop the matter 

as th[e ]y said the chP.rges we·re too trifling to quarrel about 

Lieut Baxley hBd got into a scraue the year before coming up 

from St Lo11is~ with his Lacly on bo [1=:i]rd the columbia fur cos keel l 

they had got up some 1•rnere about cl2rirnsville wnen a diffi -

culty heppened between Lielt Baxley end one of tne clerks of the 

company Lieut Fexley went into his wifes room to go to bed and 

found ttis clerks sboes in there Lieut Bax went out and talked 

to hur about it the clerk was about to take a gla.ss of liquor 

at the time but instead of drinking the liquor he threw it in 

Lieut BBxleys face Lieut Eaxl.e~' drew a pistol and shot the clerk 

dead I believe stil[l] it runs in my mind that he stab[b]ed him 

with p knife Lieut B never lived a hBpny 1 ife with his ,rife and 

finally they separated and each took their own course for a liveli-

hood and shortly ~fter Lieut Bexl[e]y was droped at the reduction 

of the army after the r?ar, an6. that WPS the last I heard of him 

the Sussetons had trePted the traders verry badley after they 

heard th8t the old chefe had been imprisoned and had his arm cut 

off they thou~ht of course he would either die or be killed 
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but they dare not kill eny of the traders they found the fort was 

too close end too strong for them and thPt col Snelling WAS deter-

mined to ounish them for bad cnnduct 

After rema[i]n[in]g about a month I pecked up e few goods end 

some po~der and lead end sterted up the MiRspi again trd s time I 

was destined for Leaf Lake with two large bark canus and four men 

and Mr Peter Q.uinn for interpreter tnere were quite a number of 

chippewas in company they had been down on a visit the moskitoes 

were terrible the men had to wear mittens end ned to keep smokes 

in our canoes ell C.ey ~rnd at nignt NB \•7ere comnelled -r;o suround our 

cemp ~1th smoke in order to get some rest after ten days toil we 

reached our place of destination Leaf Lake about 9 milRs east of 

otter tail Lake ~e commenc[e]d building on the east side of the 

lake the lake has narrows in the middle the wbole lFke is about 

three miles in length We built four houses in the form of a square 

1md left olpces for i:retes at each corner the logs and punchPons 
(we] 

ire re all up and ,re re going on to mPke the floors out of puncneons 
I 

when one morning a chippeiq8 came in and saic the Sioux had bPen to 

otter tail leke and 1cilled a chipnewa and his TTi:fe end the chippewa 

hed killed one Sioux in the strug?le for life the chippewas all 

started off to see whet was done they found the chippewa and his 

wife sce1ped end the Sioux -ras set u-o nearby tr:e chipDewas and a 

great deal of IndiPn trinkets thro~m over him the c!"1ippewas as 

soon as th[e]y got near the Sioux tney fired a volley into his body 

end c~Prged unon the dead carcass and scalped it and cut it to 

pieces and done meny disgraceful acts to the dead body the killing. 1 

of these chipuewas frightened them so that tney ell moved off and 

said th[e]y would not inter there so I had to pull up my stakes 
and move down the river and commem~ce]d a new again at the mouth 
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of 1 eaf river Lec:i f LRke is e place v-rrJ.ere rcnlnADic:rnon Eind D·. Granam 

once wintered for the North West fur comp8ny but tl:fu]y •Jere also 

disturbed [by] both perties Sioux end chippevas so they quit the 

countery 

after m0ovuing [sic] down to the mouth of Leaf river I went 

down to .ttort Snelling: to get my winters SU")Dlies for the winter 

I hPd to i.rai t neRrley a month before the boat arrived with tne 

•inters supplies from St Louis I got my goods as soon as possible 

e.nd fixed up so:ne things for my wife and boy and left in compa.ney 

vri th Mr B. F . Baker the seas en was far aavanc [e ]d end we did not 

arrive et our wint~ring ground until freezing- weather an6.. I had 

to build Mr Baker rrn.d bull t at Crmv Island during the summer =>So 

he had a house all ready to f!O into and I had to go to work an6.. 

build I built 8 store house and a house for myself and inter-

preter My men ~ntered in a lodge made of oolls and split ood 

set unright pitchinf together at t ne top. and wide at· the bottom 

here the ~ndians broug-ht me a young gir.l and tne parents 

wpnt[e]d me to take her and live.with her for the ~inte~ I put 

them off tney came again. finally.I consented end she lived 

with me about 2 months and went off to . make sugar as she said ~ 

·after a "rhile she came back egein and staid a few deys ·and \..rent 

awey Eifa.in 

I hed 8 great stru;vle with the opposition this w nter they 

W3tcPed ' me in every nole end corner they even made their men get 

up into the forks of the trees in the coldest of weather and watch 

us when we would be going out to tne Indians af'ter.furs and if 

they could possibly discover wnere 1·Te were gone or g:oin~ to tney 

·ould follow us end try to get the furs from tne Indians they 
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kept this up all winter but it done them no good for I sold my goods 

and made my packs notwithstanding the great efforts made to breake 

us up or to run us off from the countery 
[sic] 

We hc>a a verry deep snow in the winter of 18541\ the winter 

was verry severe a number of Indians perished amongst the Sioux ,_ 
on the nrairiee in the Fiver Shiene the buffalo ned left the 

country and the Indians could not follow theme the snow was too 

deep they tried to make t r.eir ray ba.ck again to tr-eir w4:R:t:ieF 

summer quPrters or corn fields 

dog~/~ill th[e]y hPd not enou?h 
/ 

they eat up all tneir horses and 

to bring them in and as they were 

traveling along in tne snow they would fall do1.rn ana_ there stay P s 

of su f fering they were to week for tb get up again and those that 

could keep up did not tiiink enough of those that he,d fallen to 

perish to help them up Self preservation was all the go and go 

ahead i-ras their determination~-; but finalley they had to go to 

eating each other they got so far fOne they had to come to this 

When one 1rrould fall down dea.d allmost they would freeze in a few 

minutes then some one coming on behind would cut off a limb and 

at ni~ht woul~ cook and eat it some fortey ·pPrished:-- -:::::> about 200 

got into their summer residence where they ha.d corn one woman 

got down as far as Fort Snelling, crazey and she was allways 

hankering after human flesh and w.r.en the children would be playing 

about she often wo11ld say wnBt fine fat children as s con [a.s] 

the children were told who and wr~at she vras they were all afraid 

of hur and 1.rould run and hide tt~emsel ves when th [e ]y saw the crazy 

woman a coming 

sota river Pna 

·finalley 
[sic ] 

droened/\in 

one dey sre attempted to s rim the Minne-

the attempt 

during the winter I made one journey do~n to Mr Bakers at the 
mouth of the crow Wing river here I sew a deserter that hPd run 
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?way from Fort Snelling he had frozen his feet and could not welk 

and in talkina about matters of the world I found that h~ wes a 

universalist and e had a lon g talk on the subject of religion 

which I supnose done nel ther of us ciny good for I told him in the 

end I should not like to trust him to raise a child of mine he 

retorted. back in the same way so I droped tr,e subject end went to 

bed and eRrley in the morning I was off for nome it is a he rd 

d1=1ys walk from Crow '!ling to the mouth of Leaf river 

We carrief out tte winter by roing ~ith a perty of chippewes 

to visit a Siouy cemp a long days jurny the Sioux came over first 

to see the chippe NaS t he chippewas returned efith tne Sioux to 

their C8mp and some of tr e treders went in the traine to nelp them 

meke .nea ce 4~ found the Sioux ca mped neRr the waters of the 

chiupewe river in number about 100 lodges or about 500 sould we 

staid with tne Sioux one day and two ni ght s counciling and feasting 

and made neace to be broke t he first good opnortunity t hat should 

offer We left the Sioux cl?mp for home came to the chi ;'.)µe1·ra cemp 

end stoned over ni~ht the next morn[in]g ~e got home egein and 

efai ted for snring so we could make our packs and start do1J1rn the 

river again in tt.e meantime I sent 'M r Q.uinn my interpreter over 

to Lake ~reverse where Mr ~cKenzie lived about five days journey 

he took t ro dogs and train end one chippewa Indian and started /if 

he 1·~as gone 12 days and brought back some po1•rder tnat I nad sent him 

for about the middle of anril the ice began to move the Indians 

had all left for Leech lake to make suga r 

We were all E'llone ~rnd quite lonesome and tne moment t .r:.e ice 

v•ould perrni t we were off , C-.::::: Wi th about 30 paclrn . in e. few days 
/# 

,re Bll arrived safe Bt home;N°er fort Snellingc:; as I passed the 

fort some of the officers hPiled me and Asked me if I hpd seen any 
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Sioux Indi~:ins I said no they said they had thou&ht of sendLi]ng 

a man up t:re Mississippi to inform us of some trouble th[e]y had 

with the Sious Indians there had been a party of chippewas Hole 

in the day chief to see the commanding officer and to trade sugar/# 

they were ca~ped belo¥ the fort in bottom some fifty in all men 

women and children the Sioux nad visited t~em day after day and 

the Chippe~as hPd f eastea them on su~ar until th[e ly were filled 

and gave them some to carry home with them one evening a parcele 

of young men hRd been to the chi-o,)e°t'·a camp fAasting and dancing/# 

Wnen they rose to dep"rt when they got out side of t n e lodge one 

of the Sioux blowed a i/Distele when trey all ir:i:-1e eled and fired into 

the chippewa lodges and ran off it ~as dark so no person followed 

them at one fire till.eye wounded nine of' the cnippewas but f ortu-

rn~t e [ly] [none] were .!(illed but some 11Tas thought would not survive 

the night t li ey were all ta '-:en up to tre council house ena. leid 

on the floor the blooa stood in large pud~les all about tne 

floor t:re surge0n of the fort dressed all the w6unds and Col 

S ielling made trem as comfortable as he could for the night and in 

the morni[n]g tn[eJy were all taken into the fort where they were 

out of dane;er from the Sioux in· the morning Col Snelling ordered 

all the Sioux to come into council a few of them came in but the 

principle men did not come in they knew nretty well well [sic] 

that some of them would be ta.ken as hosteges until the others th?.t 

fired on the chi pnewas were brought in and th[ e ]y would not come 

in but rather prep?r[e]d for resistance tre Col ordered t o 

compan[i]es of sold[i]ers out w th offic[e ] rs and our interpreter /:P 

the IndiBns ra.n end hid ttemselves in the g·rass at last th[e]y 

came upon a party of them up et Lands End th[e]y were ordered 



85 . 

to sarrender but th[e]y refused saying the col would kill them Bad 
· [ sic :r--

Hai. l the old orator end principal soldeir/\ of the nation tol<l the 

interpreter if he put nis hands on him he would shoot him the 

internreter had two companies to beck him up and pushed forward end l~d 

hold of Ead Hail the most nr0ininent Indien of Rll the bands tne 

soldiers steped rite up with the officers and Vr Bad Hail as con-

fined When tne In6iens saw this th[e]y did not know what to do 
[to] 

and kept retreating finally the officers managed so as s2round 

ebout a dozen of t~em mostly chiefs and br2ves and closed in on 

them and made them prisoners when the Indians sew this th[e]y 

gPve uu ana came in find all marched dovrn to the council house ft-

Stil th[e ]y coula not fret t:r~em into co11ncil they were fearful 

of a trap the agent Vejar L. TPliRferro told them as lon~ as 

his flag was flyinf over tneir hepds ti[eJy should not be hurt 

So after much parlyin~ th[e]y consented to go into council When 

th~ lv all got in a large build[i]ng full (ah) says the co!_ I have 

rot you no r in a lov tone voice ' the Indians co~menc[eJd by 

Justifying tnemselves th[e ]y co;rnlained that the chi opewes were 

all rays the Rfgressors after making a peace the c~ippewas ~re 

the first to bre?~ it the chinoe ~s said tre same of the Sioux # 

So it went back and forth and it was found that the Indians could 

not settle treir difficulties ttemselves neither did tDe agent 

and col agree as to what -i as tne best policy to pursue in the 

settlement of this difficulty amongst them finally col Snelling 

took the whole thing into his 01rm hands a_nd went at at [§__ic] 1 t 

in ePrnest he told the Ind\ans he was a fOing to keep some of 

them as hos ta ges fo[r] three days nd et tne end of tnree days if 

the uarty 1tras not brought in that had c5-one the miscnief he 1,rould 
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this made them hang their heads they eupeal [e ]d 

to thelr agent µajar L .. Telisferro the agent told the col he had 

prom[i -lsed them protection as long as th[e]y were under his flag/ # 

,fell Sflys the col I cen easily obviate th;;it and. went out and had 

the flag puled down an~ ~~en ine. Indians saw tnat tn[e]y made loud 

comulaints of injustice the col told t:r em he was not a going to 

allow them to come right here under the guns of the fort end commit 

murder --with impunity then run off and cut up as th[e]y pleflsed 

then laug·hf at the w.ni te people and call them cowards &c &c Now 

says t~e col I em a goinf to stop as rnucn of this kind of work as 

uossible the IndiBns s;::iiCi it was e band of foolisn boys that 

done the mischief end offered 30 horses to settle the matter No 

said the col-::::::- you see that blood all over t.rie floor if your 

peonle had of been shot that w?y would you hPve sold your blood 
[sic] 

for a narcel of poor olde horses No s?aysAtte col you never 

would of stoped crying for blood in retur~life for life you would 

have asked and I shall do the same end picked out some 6 or 8 

chiefs and braves ana told tnem to go to tbe gw=1rd hou[se] ::::::::=;::: 
[sic] · 

ana sent tte other Indians off tooAhunt up the murderers 

The Indians raised a pPrty of braves and went in searcn of 

the deoredators th[e]y at t.ne end of t.r:re[e] days brour-ht in two 

of trem Pnd SPid tt.e rest hed ran off and t:rey could not find thernj# 

the col was not satisfied and said he must ha.ve some more so the 

Indians started Pfain in two days tney returned and said the 

rogues hed fled tne countery and tn[e]y could not get them the 

col said he must have another so one of the braves turned over 

his brother that hed been charged with having been seen with the 

perty that fired on the chippewas but it was found out after 

"rarrards [sic] tnRt this Indien v1Bs not 11th the pPrty when th[e]y 
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fired unon the chipnei;·rRs 

A. n;:ig· . 8 . rn:ih. J·i:; e . 1 s tr e name of the man that gave up his 

brother of Little Sixes Band of Sioux col Snelling ordered a 

serjeent and a guard to take the three Sioux arid march them out 

from the Fort about a quarter of a mile and elso ord 0 red the chippe-

·ras out to shoot them lvhich act t 1ey uerf'ormed verry wil lingley /# 
the Sioux were olace[d] some fifteen naces off from tne chippe-vas ' 

the first fire 2 of tne Sioux fell one was mortally wounaed but 

stert ed to run but another shot from the chi.z:)pewas brought him down /P 
So the chiooewPs trok the bodies of the tnree Sioux and tnrew tnem 

into the ~:i ssissi'Jpi and all went home as quiet as if nothing nad 

this act of col Snellin~s struck terror into the the [sic] 

Sioux nPtion and it humbled the Sioux down so that tnere was no 

more trouble with them for meny years from the Mississiopi to the 

Missouri col Snelling was blamed by many of the friends of the 

Siouy firstley.because no chipuewas had died of tLeir wounds and 

2dly beca11D.se th[e ]y said that col .Snelling had no au tr ori ty to take 

the life of any one Rnd th [e]y sti~matized him es a murder=erJi 

then others said again that col Snelling hed don[e] rig:ht end tLat 

by that he no doubt would save t ne lives of many Indipns and some 

whites alsb for when Indians formerly had committed murde r they 
' 

would be taken ~ef ore the courts the result would be an acquital 

for the want of witness[esJ,snd I am willing to join . ~ith t hose ~R 

upholding col Snelling as I have lived to see the 'effects of his 

rule while he '''8S com"'J and[i ]ng officer at !' ort Sn[e]ll [i ]ng and 

must say by the col order[i]ng the tnree Sioux to b~ shot the act 

hRs save[d] many a life f rom brutal murder and Sioux remember it 

to this day and stil talk about tne matter v-rith a verry subdued 
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tone when th[e]y speak of it amongst themselves 

after spend[i]ng about a month I mede preperations for the 

ctfa]npewa countery again by this time [I] began to get tired of 

tne countery both on account of the poor liv[i]ng and hard labor 

required to ~eep up the trade and es I coula not teke my ~ife with 

me I wes determined it should be the la.st time I would winter with 

the chippewes So I got ready Bnd started in compa[n]y with Mr 

Baker Bfain this time I hRd to go to a new place and build again 

this 1•rfls at Leecr LP'i:.e the heed of the southern for'c of the 1/is-

sissippi We went in to tfle countery by the ~ray of gul 1 le'.Ie and 

made portages from one lRke to an nether until we reached our place 

of destination wher[e] I went to work end built on the point of 

land rnak[i lng in from the south and I bel[i]eve is Pn islend and 

I should ttink there were ten thousand acres of. land in it the 

nort~ern most point of this island reaches near to the middle of 

the lake, which is about thirt)' miles long 

on my way uu the Missiesinni I got sick with some kind of 

fever I hRd but little medicene a.nd I d_id not get well for a 

month as soon as my house was up I started do m for my goods for 

the wint~rs trade We had to wait a long time for the keel boat 

with our goods. and it was late in fall before we got into the 

countery with our goods the Indians most of tnem had taken their 

winter credits and gone off to hunt had it not been that I met 

some of them on the Mississinui as I was going up and made some 

credl ts I s.r-ould not f2,'0t any Indians to hunt for me this vinter 

at 8ly~s soon 8S I c9rrived we had to go to fishing as the traders 

~md Indians all have to live on fish and potBtoes through the 

winter we caught about 20001 Teleb_ee a species of white fish only 
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much smaller weighing from a half to one pound apiece we run a 

knife throough (~ic] the tail of tte fish and DUt ten on a stock 

and hang them up heed down- wards to dry in this way tn[e]y keep 

fresh and good all winter this is our bread and meat for about 

8 months of the year the distance ls so great and our canoes so 

small that we cannot carry any more provisions some times we 

c~n ?et a little ~ild rice from the In~ians w ich is quite a re-

lief for a change of diet once in a w.nile 2 sacks or one one (~ic] 

barrel of flour was all ti:lat any of us could t1H:e for our winter 

su,nly here we dragged out a long tedious winter most the time 

fishing for a livinf! -we used to cut :t.oles thr[o]ug:rL tr,_e ice 

about three feet thic~ and set our nets by means of a long uoll # 

~e would cut holes with axes until 'e ceme to the rater then we 

used An ice chisel this is about 2 feet lonv made of iron bevelled 

on one sice ano 8 11 ttle crook in t"r:e ot:ter end and lashed·::::;:::. to a 

han~lP or poll about 6 feet lonr With this instrument the bottom 

of the hole made lerge and tre holes are mede nearly as far apart 

as the poll is long and the net is tied to one end of the long 

poll and Dust.ed alonr-· under the ice fr_om one~ hole to another 

until they get to the lenpth of tre net wrdch g~nerally is stout 

180 feet but wben the net is floated and tne sinkers it does not 

measure not more tGan half that distance as the net wnen set nes 

to be pulled about one half so as to five the fish a chance to 

plFly and this keeps them from break[i Jng tne meshes verry much /# 

the pike or nickeral are verry h?rd on the nets there numerous 

Find lon{2' sh8rp teeth cut a great meny holes in tne net but the 

fish[i]ng in the winter ·is a cold end poor business Sometimes 

in the morning we do not get more than one fish som[e]times none 
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atal sometimes five or six When there is no fish the poor dogs 

hp,ve to suffer of which most every trader in the north have a_ train/# 

In Leech Lake there are a few hite f ish that will weigh from 10 

to 15 ±as but thfJy are scarse the DorrP or Pike are verry abun-

dant in March . tne traders and Ineians set their nets in the air 

holes in the lake and. large quantities of tnem are taken at this 

season of the year this species of fish are hunting for places 

to spawn and it is generally shoal water and grassy bottoms & it 
suits them . also they find small fish about these air holes and 

th[e]y spc:n·m ana find their food all at the same place one net 

frequ entlE'Y 1 oaa_s a dog sled with this species of fish every morn-

ing . 

about the first of :!_ay the Indians most of them are in from 

their spring hunts . they kill from 4 to 800 musk rats some times 

one or two otters a beaver or two a. few min~-c a few coon-:=> some 

times a bear skin makes 8 g-ooa_ hunt era suring hunt, ci,,rorth from 

one to two hundred dollars. 

Mr P.ousan en old canadi [e Jn 1·rho was trading there for the 

ame rb.JcPn fur comuany told me he l·as there when Lieut Z. M. Pike 

cam [e J up to Leech T_,e_ke 1 n t.he :Ti. nt er 1814 & 15 and found a British 

flBg flying· nd ordered his soldiers to shoot it down . he seys 

the soldiers fired several shots but could not bring it down Mr 

Rousan said he ordered the Indians to try their skill at shooting 

and theLy] ~ired onley a fm shots before tne flag fell to the 

ground 

Whilst I was l•Tai ting here for the ice to break up in the lFJke 

2 of my men deserted me end 1,rent off to Red river 1·rhicn made made 

[sic] me short of hends to take my canoes out the distance beeing 

about 5 or 6 days travel by the river 
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at last about the 20 of May 1827 the ice gave way to the force 

of the ind and the neat of the sun and in a few days we were aflo~ 

under way for Fort Snelling again t.ne first day \'Te crossed the 

lake and passed by the old wintering ground near the outlet of the 

lal..ce this point hpd been used for a lo!1g ti;ne by the North west 

compBny for a trading· post and this is the noted place rhere their 

fle.g was shot do1-m b;v Lieut Z. M. Pike it must have required a 

~reat deal of energey and perseverance on the part of that officer 

to have reached thet poet in the winter ·without snow shoes or 

mockasins the distance beeing about 250 miles through a thick 

forest of Dines and under brush with thick heBvy shoes which became 

verry slipery in valking in the snow and they froze nard in the 

feet end the feet are allweys cold and frequently tne men got 

frosted We moved on down into the river and encamped for the 

n~ght the next dey we worked all day in the serpentine course of 

the river the grass beeing higher than our heads we could not 

see out any distance from the canoes in the evening e cci.me to 

the Po.K~ a Ma in the ch_inpewa tongu[e] e fall in the Mississippi;H 

here the river is not more than 20 yard.s ide and rushes through 

bet reen t~o rocks one from each side of tne river the pitch or 

ranid is about 4 or 5 feet a.nd in the middle end at the bottom of 

the shoot is a large boulder and the iliole river dashes on to this 

rock and divides the stream and it reunites below the rock again /-it 
the traders all have to land here and make a uortage and carry 

their goods about fifty yards round to the still water below the 

r apids Som[e] traders had landed one day coming down and all had 

lAnded exceDt one small bark cen[o]e with only one man in it he 

·was noticeing some t1'ing on the snore and before he noticed ne was 
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drawn into the suck of the rapids an[d] in an instant more he was 

against the big rock below his canoe went do n sid[e]wise end 
struck about half ~ay or middle of tLe CPn[o]e ena broke square in 
two· one half went [on] eech side of the rock end the man floLa]ted 
to shore in one half of the ca.nee and .t.is load in the other half 

the rest of the company ha el a great lau~·h at the man for 
his ducking· end. the great fright he got in going over tne fall 
without thin'king of wqat he as doi'ng or l"t•ere he was .going :6 . 

*in the spring of 1855 1e had the big.nest water tnat was ever 
known in this countery and in trie commenc[e]ment of t.r.e wint er of' 
1854 p, large body of ice~ bro....ce off from tne fall of Sa [i Jnt 
Anthoney ann clog[f ]ed up the channel and water rose about 20 feet 
end kept breaking tre ice ~nd forcing it alon~ before tne rise and 
rush of ate0y the time it reached i r&t]1·1as frightful to look 
at but as soon PB the flo1 had passed the fort it got vent by a 
channel:::::::;- t at flowed into the Minnesota river but in peesing the 
fbrt it carried off a long wash house belonging to the fort end a 

man in it the man and wife had both got out but the man thought 

of his watch and [went] after it but the rise of water was so 
sudden that it raised the house that rese made of solid hewed logs 
bodily up and floated some distance before it came to pieces and 
th~ man thet was carried off in it wes never heard of or found 

the flow passed off down about a mile 

on e little prairie on t~e east bank lived a trader by tne 

name of FRrribault they hed been notified from the fort of the 

breaking up of the ice end tn[e]y made their escape to the opposite 
side of tr~e river but down there tr1e 1•ra.terc::::: did not rise high 
enough to injure their houses but the following- spring the water 

[5 . Tne nrrrative from this 'Joint to the secono D.:>r9r-renh on DAf'e 93 
1,,ps 'Titten on~ senPrRte pteet PttPcned to nAfe 110 of tLe ITi'Pri'Uscrint . ll nas insertf>C Pfter t~~e 10th .~inP from tr~e bottom ofnwnuscri'Jt -08~112 .] 
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rose from the melting of the snow rhich was tr.:.at winter from 3 to 

4 feet .deeu Mr Farribaults house ·res entirely s rept a~ray but he 

hed used precaution and moved all his effects to the west side of 
I 

the river at Red river of tie north c- tbe water was so high that 

the river overflo red its banks for 30 miles on each side of the 

river and the people many of them had to live on rafts for several 

dPys before boats could carry them to dry land and it as reported 

that they could not find a good landing until th[eJy reached 

Turtle lJountains the inha.bi tants lost t:heir all and had to com-
[e le] 

menc [e Ja,Ni ne,,. agBin the hudsons bay fur company sent to the 

States· and purchased cattle, horses and sheep end sold them to 

the colonists to corrmence a .new again but quite a number of them 

left there and ceme over to the United States and settled for 

life the driving these cattle across to red river was tne cause 
7 .· 

of tte Sioux chiefs loosing one of his arms at fort snelling 

We soon got our loads CRrri(e Jd round and floated on down to 

SRndy lPke, the next day . We stoped onley a few moments tre 

clerks of the american fur company had became dissatisfied with 

treir employers and wished to leave them and join the columbia fur 

compEiny and ereve me a letter to tbat effect wl:icn I promised to 

lRy before the compPny ana ano [.§_ic] done so on my arrival at our 

depot Lands Ena near Fort Snelling we passed sanoy lPke the 
. [chippe1-1es ·.] 

next day passed the houses of l'!r Oa~s and cnpws/\~ near ceed~r 

lake the[y] hed all left for ~ackinaw with treir furs and to 

get a new sunply for the winter 

from here we ~ent to nine river and camped for the Pine river 

is a rout t !:.at lifZ_'ht canoes trRvel to go to Leecn lake also Willow 

( 7. The nBrrPtive from the esterisk on page 92 to this ooint is 
,,;ritten on g_ seperate snf.!et Bttached to nege 110 . of the ma nuscript .] 
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river is traveled for thPt nurpose but loaded canoes cannot travel 

theese routs es the ·water is to[o] shoal and ra pid the second 
dey we cPme to cro1 ~ing hear [sic] we heard of Genl Jecksons 
election we founo Mr Ft=iker hPd been gone several days so rn float-

ea on down in e. day and a. half to f ort Snelling found all "rell 
and the necks pretty much ell mede ready t o ship to St Louis e 

steamboat came to our depot end took the furs the first steam[e]r 

that ever ceme that far up the lHnnesota in 1827 al though tnere 

hPd been 3 or 4 to ~ort Snelling . the first res in the spr[i]ng 

of 182~ a stern wheeler, the m:im[e] I do not now recollect, from 

cincinnRti with sunulies for t h e fort at this time all tee 

provisions were brought from tLere for all t ne troops on the 

Mississiopi and we used to get the best of flour for ~5 pr ~~ and 

8~ for prime nork after all tne packs were off the partners of 

the compeny-o got tofether and had a little council of whBt 1:.ras 

to be done the fol 1 Qlr•ing yee.r 

I told tnem for one that I was ageing to quit the Chi')pewa 

countery RS I hac been there t hree years starving half the time1 

some one else must take my place for a mile No one made P.ny 

reply Some ot her business was tr2nsactea also a pro-nosition to 

sell out came up and it ~~s agreed t h8t if tie agent Mr McKenzie 

could sell for enou ~h to clear us from debt for to do so by this 

time we had incurred a verry hePvy debt our outfits on on [sic] 
the ~issouri haa_ been verry e ·nensive end our whole debt wa.s now 

ebout ·100 1 000 So-Mr McKenzie sold ouo/the american fur company 

a~reed to ta~e Pll the goods we ned left 8t cost and give us the 

:M issouri trade they to furnishe the goods and we were to fet one 
t hird of t~e nrofit the t~o parties went to work and took sn 
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inventory of stock and found that we did. not pay our debts to Mes srs 

Powels by s~veral thousand dollars this diss8tisfied the most of 

the uartners to think that Mr ~cKenzie had sold out to such a dis-

FldvantAge also Yessrs Pm,7els had 8llmost stoped business on 
[sic] 

account of this heavy debt ·that we o ed tr:em but Mr McKenziee;\hod 

meae the bargPin anc said he wps a going to stick 
I# 

rest of us all backed out excent }l:r wrn Laidb1w/So 
I 

to it So the 

they t\'ro Scotch 

men took the americBn fur companys offer an6 the rest of us ~ere 

left to grub for ourselves five in number We hP~ labourd and hPlf 

st8rved for four yePrs and. had run the amer[i]can fur compa[n y 

so hPrd that th[ely rere gled to come to some kind of en arranfe-

ment:::::::. but re IDP.Y sciy our four years. -hara.shins and labor went to 

the benefit of Mr µcKenzie And LPifilaw ffid off they started for 

the Missouri countery 

'My brother rerrained within Powels clerkin£, again Mr Lamont 

went into business with his b,rother in Saint Louis and died abo[u]t. 

two years after. he left a c [a]ughter uncared for Mr Laidlaw 

Ca'Tie round this wa.y to go to Missouri to see about some privete 

matters of his end Mr McKenzies When he arrived we fired him a 
[si cJ ,.ff; 

sPlute from a swivel the/\1~re had thet belonfCed to our keel boat1 Six 

full loads we fired and e squib for t he agent of t ne Columbia ±ur 
I 

comD[a]ny for the honor of sellinf us out in the manner he did 

My self Mr Jeffryes ~r Renville Rnd Mr Tillton were all out of 

employment Kr Tillton got into business with one Mr Parker in 

the lead business at gAlena ~r Renville got an assortment of 

goods from the AmerlcE>n fur company and Mr Jeffryes ~<rent with him 

RS cler~ in the In0ian trade 8t Lacquiparle So trey had all 

got into business but myself 
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I was left on the ban~ of the river my self end wife and one 

child howeve[r] I had been up in the summe[r] to Leech Leke and 

brought aney whPt few goods triat were left there and turned tnem 

over to the company the Indians all over the countery looked 

verry saa over the events thet had taKen place and said tney would 

sterve end freeze Mr McKenzie never offered me a nlace as clerk 

or interpreter or Pny other position or place in the ne r business 

he was ebout to enter into Rl though I_ worked and sta.rved to my 

hearts content for tnree years for tLe comoGny::::::;::- So when the 

company [ ~ps] takeing an account of stock I as~ed Mr McKenzie for 

some po der And lead to leave with my wife end child as I had to 

go some where c:ind find some ki:1d of empl [o ]yment With some hesi -

tation Mr 'lfoKenzie let me heve e few pounds of' pm .• rder and lead # 
I 

So th[e]y two vent into the Missouri trade and in a few yeprs they 

made some fifty thousand dollar c aniece Vr Laidlaw quit.the 

trade and settled at Fort Leavenworth and in a few years after as 

well as !'Jr Jeffryes and Mr Renville and my broth[er J died -::::- some 

years since also Yr Lemont. Mr Tillton I believe is also deed So 

ttere is only ~r j cKenzie and myself still living of the old 

coulumbia [sic] fur company 

aftPr ell hadeleft and all the goods been removed from Lands 

End to the e.rnericcin fur comnanys store I t.Rd to start and it so 

happened thRt the steem boat Joseohine came up to ~ort Snelling ;r . 
with supplies for the fort So I shiped for St Louis where my 

[Fi th] 
brothe~ was livinv,Yessrs ~o·~ls . it made me feel sad sade, to 

; [ thet] 
think pnd revie r t he rye.st,\ in five years that I had been t here I 

hRd formed the ecauaintance of most all the officer[s] in the fort 
[to J 

and ;:ill the traders of the countery .: and leave1 g:o ~imongst strangers 
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and nothing before me but the cloth(e ]s I hed on Everyc.thing 
looked gloomy and then 2gain to leave my Indian wi:·e ;:ind boy as 
anotter thing that troubled me much as I could not leave them well 
PPOViC1ed for the comDany beeing in debt I could not get aney-
thing from thRt source end had t8~en nothing for three ye8rS but 
bErely enough to to (.~i_Q_] keep me f rom suffering in the winter 

. . and what I did ge t -'!/.res of tne most common kind and lere not fit 
to ~o into decent comDa[n]y Hthe boat 1· [PS] gettinf reedy to be 
off I went end bid the olo woman a goodby and left hur with hur 
narents and went end embRrked the clerk of the sutler store [to] 
called me 1one stde and asked me if I hRd any mon[e]y I told him 

[me J 
no So he took ten doll?rs and gave/isaying ·y0u are travellli]ng: 
amongst stranp-ers end you mey want a little tnis was en act of 
~indness et the hands of ~~ H . K . Ortley the cilerk of the sutlers 
store At 1' crrt Snelling· which I felt deeply to appreciate and 
asked another favor of him~ trat was if [he J heard of my 'lrri fe 
And childs beeing in want of provis ions at any time to let tnem 
have some he promised to do so as he had at one time thought of 
getting my ~ife when she was a girl but he would not promise to· 
mar[r]y ~ur fnr life this tne old folks did not like and 1ould 
not lets the daught[e]r marry under those circumstances to be 
kent a fel• years ;:ind then cEtst off with three or four children 
so Mr Ortley did· not get hur 

t he boat was ready and off we sail[e]d and I took a last look [it J 
at the lana I love.d and/\apnear[e]d more like my native lRnd and 
home by e lonv residence in it tnan the one I had left to the East 
in t he state of dew York Phelpsto~n ontario county I snook faDnd s 
with my old friend ~r Ortley and long snall I rememb[e]r tne time 



98 . 

when he sliped the ten dollar bill on the state bank of Missouri 

into my he.nd and I thought eyf the old proverib a friend -::- in time of 

need is a friend indeed he lived at fort Snelling_- 4 or 5 years 

left 2 or three children went to st Louis set up a large grocery 

store but died in 2 or 3 yeers after 

the bell rang and tr1e boat passed sl0wley over tr~e bar at 

Mencota wl'.lic:t .. g-ave us time to view the old_ place where we hed 

ofien assembled to see Ineian dances Pnd to trade India[n] curi-

os:tties after we got under way I found that col Snelling ~s ·on 

board the boat and family going EBst and to Wasnington the col 

wes to settle hie accounts and_ w.nilst there he took sick and diea. 

Nothing transpired on our rout from Fort Snelling to st Louis 

onley thet I hired out to the captain of the steamboat as clerk 

at twenty doll8rs pr month but I hPd to stand watch half the 

nii;i:ht and the cantain t he other half of the night We arrived all 

safe and sound at st Louis egain found my brother well and. was· 
[rs] 

principcil bookkeeper in the MessJ\Powels dry goods store as I hed 

got emplo?ment on the steamboat in the daytime I had to be at the 

boa.t all ways in daytime ei tr.er receiving· or unlo [aJding freight 

and it was onley in the evening that I could get a chance to stroll 

abol!t the cittey a little while in the evening with my brother 

the[y] made regular trips from St Louis to Galena the water 

was verry low on the Rock Islanc and Desmoin ra.pids and we .c.ad nard 
;~ 

. I 1 work to get over frequently had to ighten the steamboat with a_ 
.I 

keel boat by.teking the frei~ht from the steamer and takeing to 

shore and leavinr- El part, then moove aheFld with a pert of the 

freight until we found deen water when we would put tne freight 
)-# 

into the steE!mer egein lbut l·rren.,.. ever fretgh t was left on the shore 
,' ;:11 

I had to stay ana. watch it So bet1.rixt ttJlree duties that I had to 
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nerform clerking stand[i]ng watch on the boat half tne night and 
[I] 

wetcrdng the freight on shore\worried out in about t o months ~ 

frequ entl ey I 11rould ta~rn nold and help load lead in [or Jd.err [sic J thi::i t i,·e 
could keen up our regular trins t riis was verry hard rrork to 
handle pi~s of lead for one or two hours at a time . ms verry 
straini [n]g on the nPnds and erms but I was careful with tne 
freight ancl never rBd to pay for any but once and that was some 
furs that 'as stolen by the barkeeper about fiftey dollars worth 
the boat h d to pay for 

We worked hara. all tne fa.11 runLnJing from St Louis to Galena 
Eind the boat made about -two t.r1ousand dollers capt Clark owned 
and commanded the boat final[l 'Y tI'e ice commenced running and 
1- e- aui t the tre.de to Galena and laid up a fe~ days in St Louis 
and painted the boat and repaired her machinery some and took in 
freight for New orleens mostly bulk meat or pork in pieces Eind 
some lBrd and honey So v-.re got a full freight but tnere were so 
many boats in that trade we hea to cerry freight verry cheap and 
our boat being srnRll dit not pay ver~y well to work _cheap on small 
freights on our WPY down we got ag:round ti·rice and had to unload 
t1•I1ce this WDS hard work .-. and we nad to work -night and day for 
the ice was not f.Pr behind us and we were f ePrful if tne ice over 
took us it woulc cut our boat to pieces in a snort time however 
·e got cl[e]ar end ran into t~e ban~ one morning in a fog and got 
in amongst a p[a]rcel of snags and logs afloat here we expected 
to be lost every minuet but tie snags were old and rotten ~rnd 
gt:ive way Tri.en the boat flo[a ]ted into on to [sic l t.1:~ern the 
,rheeles of the steamboat had> got full of roots ~rnd even whole 
trees roots and 81 l h~d got fastened to us end it took us nelf' an 
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hour to get clear f rom them by· t h is time the fog had cleared off 

e little and ~ could see tnat the river was full of old dead:trees 

flo[a]ting down 'l''i t h the current at a verry rauid rate the water 

WPS verry high tne water wes out of its banks most a.11 thy [s ic] 

WPY from the mouth of the Ohio to New orleans by this time I 

m:is prettey v.rel 1 tired out not only st8n6.[i ]ng watch nalf the 

ni@"ht.::=::- I hPd to get uu every time the boat landed to i.•rood or take 

in freight or p8.sseng[P-r]s /a~ I was clerk~ t.r .. e captain would 

not have any thing to do with the accounts My rest beeing broken 

so much it mBde me sic ~<: but I stuck to my ulace and before 'e vot 

doi.·m we got into another uile of logs in a large eddy in a fog in 

the ni?·ht I t.r!ink we were two hoJrs getting out of this scrape /fi-
at last we arrived SRfe at l~ei,r Orleans e.nd we were informed that 

the water hRd never been known so high it ·we:> s only about 2 feet 

below t h e level I felt verry unwell but went [to] work and got 
..,,.; 

out part of the freight 'tthe barkeePer8 naa been ashore.and 

returned and said there rJas a ball thi s evening close by So they 

all captain along agreed to go to the bell I felt unwell and 

did not care about ~oinr so I agreed to stay and keep watch 
) 

-c;:__; but it a-opears tnat the ber keeper had. looked for an om:rnr-

tfunity to get all hand s off of the boat so he could steal some of 

the freight snd his -plan t·'orked verry .rel l for af'ter all i.1and s 

of the boat hRd ?Ot to dancing they thou ght not hing of the boat 

until neer morning end I ~s le ft all a[lone] neerley all night 

end got so sleepy t:C.at I got sound e~sleep i n my c hair and no doubt 

the bar keeper was ,retching me all t.ne time to see if I got to 

sleep so he could p[i]llage some of the freignt an~ h is plan ~orked 

but well for t h e next morn Li Jng· t r ere v.ras a barrel of IP.rd missine,-
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the captein whe[n] he cound it out co::nmenc[e]d s ·rearing and 

cursing me and said I hAd not attended to my duty in atching the 

I told him I could not watcn above and below at the S?me 

time well he sei d if you had not went to sleep you could have 

heard them in taking a barrel of lard from the boat I asked him 

why he allowed all the boat hands to leave the boat and be gone 

all night he seid he he [sic] did not know all the hands were 

~oing to leeve the boat and said I ought to have told him that 

th[e]y were all goin~ to the party but this all were excuse to 

throw the blame on me for he knew all the hands were all ebsent 

from the boat for th[e ]y ,<ere all at the bell 1·1here [he] was 

dPnc[i]ng all night I told the o rn~r:::::=: of the freight how it was 

and he wa.s satisfied that the ceptein 11ras all together to blame in 

the matter an a sai6. he would make ttJ.e captain pey for the lard 

and done so by deducting the amount out of the fr[e]ight which made 

cyiite a hole in the fr[e]ight bill the capt was mad at me and did 

not sneak to me for three days but the ber lrneper got off clear with 

the l8rd ,,rhich cost tne criptain about ._30 tnis vras t.ne second pull 

for the bar keeper mekeir. ~so dollars in one trip he got out of 

the C8Dtain by stealing 

this sa.me mPn came .neBr ruining the captain once before he 

got mAd at one of t~e engineers one dey and set tne enjine egoing 

when we 1·rere takeinf on rood one day and gave it a full head of 

ste.i:im end the way that old 'D[a ]crinery flew for a few moments wes 

i,.ronderfu1/fne fly wnee[l] vr.nich reigr~ed about two tons went so 

fast we could not see it end it is a wonder it did not fly Pll . 
to pieces and kill some uersons on the boat the engineer heard 

it and rBT1 from the table at breakf P.St and shut off the steam a 
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fortunate circumstBnce thF1t notnLi ]ng ·as broke Bnd no one hurt Jif 
the captain tackled the bPr ~eener end gave him a terrible cursing 

and that ,,res the last of it Ftne captain hat got into a scrape 

coming dov n l·Jhj ch like to hrive all in the cabin into trouble it [~is:_] 

c-/-11 a woman hPd tp!{en PBssage for l~ew orleans where tur parents 

lived ~e r PPrents were a rPS~ecCt 1 able family and belong to one 
. [pir 

of our relip-ous socieitesin good stand[i]ng but tne dEJugnter had 

becom[e] wild and nrofli~ate (too often tre cese in citties) and 

rc>n aw?.y from home anc 1·Tent to st L.ouis Some of rur friends found 

her out an6 DRrsu?ded her to return to·her uarents And she co~sented 

ana went in t~e our boat the cautain hoc'.l. found out w110 sre wcis 

ana ·wEJs known to lecive his bertn and go to this womans and. was ac-

cused of it by some of the passengers this made him mad and he 

accused me and otters in the cabin of watching hi~ and circulatin~ 

1 i es. a bout him I told [him] he was mistalrnn so far as I was 

concerned he went all round the boat but could get no satisfac-

ti on on th 0 subject and tr.e thing droped Hhere it wrn commen1[ce ]d 

tLree days after t r e centain tole us he was going up red river 

es the[y] had no boats that season there ras some freignt for the 

UDDPr PPrt of the Rec river he hanc.ed me 8 check on one of the 

ben~s c>nd told me to go eR4 eellee~ eR4 get the mon[e]y for the 

freight of our trip down I 1·rent to the bPnk i:rnd got it al_l in 

silver and uut it i nto E? shot bag and was walKing along by one of 

t he chatn ganfs working on t~e levee one says to me if [Il could 

meet you alone somewlere with that bar you would not keep it ·long 

he SPiCI I thPnked him for t ~ e compliment end told him I WPS glPd 

to see he Vires safe enough end that I a_id not fear him in t he ·way be 

wes fixE"d there .t:e laughed and ,,rent on a bout his "t-rork 
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We got in our freight Rnd left the ci t tey for ~R tchitoches on 

the red river of tne bouth Went ori verry ~ell until we got into 

the Red river one dey our s~i fft broke loose we came near beeing 

blo1ed up by one of the engineers W.nilst we were working to get 

t he s~ift t:re enjineer _ ~ ::ield on a.11 steam and 1 t was escapir~g 

et e fearful rate from tne safety valve I wa[s] fearrul of danger 

and raised t ne valve e little to let off' some of the steam t.rrn.t was 

forc[i ] ng t ~e boilers terribly ~e could see t~e steam flying from 

most every joint or sulic[e] the captei[n] scol6ed me for raising 

the sPfety VRlve and I would scald som[e]body ~e had also a lerg[e] 
[toi:it] 

flatAor broRd horn as th[e]y are term[e]d on the lower Mississippi 

in tow and keot onto !Ork ~elpin~ to get the skift to its place and 

the f lat boat ~nd[?] some new leshings the enfineer held on 

ell st'3am and I a1scovere6 ti':ere was somet hing· t he ma.tter with 

to 

him/if 

I .went and told the ceptRin t~at ti':e engine [e]r ~ould blow us ell 

·up very soon if .he did not ~o and see to him tne capt started -==-

but before he ~ot to the engine a piece burst ~ut of the steam~pip e 

s teRm~ni ne [sic] as lr rg-e as B in ens f inp;er and it made all hands 

scatter the steam flev with so mucrt force thet no one could 

apnroacn neer enough to do any thing to stop the leak . the capt 
[sic] 

was not-r glad to gotj\tt.e op:Jortunity to let off steam t hrough the 

safety ·valve and by so doing let off enoug[h] so that ,,re got a piece 

of cooper plate end three or four doubles of canvass and a strong 

cord and lashed tne cooner and linen on over t~e nole end stoped the 
[ bocit] 

lea.k if we hed of got blown uo and theAsunk if we had not have 

been killed by t:be stei:im we should have been drown[e]d Iii-
' 

c=:::::the "~ i ssi ssi upi i·.ras so high that that [sic J it backed the water 

up in Red river 90 mil [e Js and the mouth of the river vas about 30 
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miles wide so there was no possibility of escaping a watery grave 

ana all must have perished for what for the fault of one man 

f ~the engineer had been indulging verry stronerly in Ne~" orleens 

end had got the delirium tremons and was uerfect ly out of his head 

at the time ~ma. came so near blowing us all in· to eterni tey 

ever providence over ruled the disaster and we got sefeley under 

way again and went on up a piece furtner and took in a wodow [sic] 

"romen and some slaves in the night /1hey sai [d] th[e ]y had been a 

a [sic] week on a raft the whole country wa.s flooded 11th water/#" 

We went on and found a steam boet Robert Burns aground 

by this time we nad fOt above the flood of the Mississippi 

and found the benks of the Red river about fif'teen feet above 

water the weather wcis very mild ana ule[a]sent tne fact of see-

ing nibe high and dry banks once more ~as gratify[i]ng to the eyes 

and body for we had been about 15 days sailing about in this high 

water cind could not scarseley find dry ground enougn to land the 

steamboat on 

the Pobert Burns 111y in the cr.annel and. vre could not pass 

until she got off So we laid th[e]re [the] balance of the day 

and a uart of the next when the Burns got off and as she passed 

us missed us and that was all and went off 

We hPd a passenger on board a kind of trader he had com[e] 

all the "'ay from St Louis with us and is one that tne captain had . 

accused of watching his movements about the lady cabin passenger 

before refer[re]d to he had purchased with the captain som[e] 

30 barrels of whisk[e]y from a little boat trading up and [d]own 

the M'ississiupyriver this laden our steam boat so that re had 

much trouble to get 2long the river was narrow and crooked and 



105 . 

full of snags re got up to Alexandria and got off some of our load 

and went on a little better for one dsy ~en the water got very 

shoal again end one nlace was barely wide enough to let the boat 

through 

We hao now been about a week out and had got out of provisions 

and we had . much trouble in getting such supnlies from the inhabi-

tants es the boat wanted for the inhabitants lived mostley on hominy 

ana the negroes the same our fair weather turned into raining 

the ceutain and Mr Gray hired a couple of horses and went up to 

Natchitoches a distance of about 30 miles by lend and told me to 

,,rorlc Plong un !JS well as I coula Fifter we got off - for we were now 

agrouna. With mucr~ rerd nulling ~~.'e got off but there were so many 

snags that we mede slow nrogress 
/ti 

-~ it rained all night and all day the next day it it [sic] 

slackened up a lit tle and the cErot end Mr Gray cam[e] be.ck ag-ain/..-4 

it set into raining about dark and it actually ca~e do1n [in]streams/# 

in the mor:ii[n]g it slpckened up a little and the "rater nad comrnenc-

[e ]d rising so we got under way ~md got up to J. atchi toches and a 

hard trin 1· e hed of it 

the Red river of the South resembles tne Minnesota river verry 

much in ~dth denth end serpentin[e] course and~ighth of banks but 

the timb[e]r is different the great cipress trees l~den witn moss 

hanp-ing from the ton to t.ce ground and the dry land is not more than 

half a mi le vide and from that to a mile i..·here it terminates in 

those cipress s ram8s the fP=r]ms for su~ar and cotten are from a 

.ra lf t-o one mile ride plon"' the bentc.s of -che rivers 

the first night ~ arrived the nilot went ashore and got up a 

Soenish fandanr-o ball this .ras sometning I rantea to see hPving 
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heard a great d.ePl about the Spanierds I wented to see them pe r form 

so the captain ordered some one to keep watch end :Ve all went the 

boats crew -~ most of tLem join[e]d in the dance the old Soanish 

omen and one or tv o qfu] ert[e] roons w:omen and about a dozen men for 

the ball a verry good samule of tl1e inhabitants of· the place the 

women had tortilloes a mixture of flour and corn meall made into 

small rolls then roll[ed ] uu in cane leaves and boiled tne Spanish 

were buying them I supposed it was someth[iJng good and purchased 

half e dozen and. thought I vrould try them and of all tne insiped 

things that I ever tasted were these tortilloes the Spanish 

appeared to be verry fond of them 
' "f 

:::::-...:::~ t hey had a little lap dog run[n]ing about the floor where 

th[e ]y were. a danc [in lg and bar1ting end I co11menc [e ]d feeding him 

the tortilloes after "trrhile the pilot ca'Ile to me and told me the 

Spanish were rnPd at me for feeding the tortilloes to the dog they 

took it as en insult to tnelr mode of cooking and told me to stop/K 

I t hrew the baiance that I hAd in my hands P.nd took up my hat and 

1 alked P.Wa.y down to the boat and left them to dance and eat their 

tortilloes to themselv[e]s I never saw a more vulgar loo~ing little 

company than had got together to ha ve what they called a bell the 

boats crew danced nearley ell night 

the next morning 1,re "rent to "'ork to unload the boat and went 

on very ·well got neerly half out before breakfast o wcis call [ea J/# 

I turned to go to to [sic] breakfast and sa"· one of the men rolling 

a hogshead of sugar on a nlank alone I soo~e to him and told him 
[sic r 

not to attempt to rool/\tne hogshead of sugar out alonec:::::::: but he 

persistea in doing it I remonstrated and told him he would let 

it into t~e water 0 no-- .... he SE'Jid end went on and allmost out 
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when the hogshead of sugar took a cant and over it went into the 

river one end on dry lPnd and the otner wet it wRs rolled out [ s] 

soon es possible but it was spoiled it was full of ~ater and in 

R fe1·r minutes it was all molasses ena commenc[e]d run[nJing out/*" 

the captain corrmenc [e ]d sweer[i ]ng at me and wanted to know vrhy I . 

let that man roll the sugar into the river I told him I had forbid 

' him and to wait for help but persisted and went ahead efter being 

told twice why in :bell did you not cell some hands to help ·. I 

sei d they haa. all gone to breakfast he keut on s 1,;earing saying 

you all ways nave some kind of a foolish get off for negligence of 

duty end went off to breakfast Rnd I followed after breakf est the 

capt 1·rent on shore end got a.n auctioneer end had the molpsses sold 

for about nine dollars I told him to make tne man pay the balance 

by ,. orking on the boat he let fly Pn oeth 21 d sPid he had not got 

a cent and. hm,r can I mAke him pFty for tne suerar I said nothing 

more tte caDtain v.ras mPd all tne way down to New orleans and 

h8rdley s:po 1,ce to any one on the boat for tFo or three days we 

hurr[i Jed on got u·nloaded ana_ made off down stream 

by this time the wHter had risen about ten feet and rushed on 

a_o·wn with a frightful current the bayous that run out of the 

river run out at a frip-htful rate and if a small boat should get 

drawn side dse into one I believe I[tJ would break the boet in 

[on] 
we cam[e] back to Alexandria and found our old friendAtne flat 

boat there ne sa.id he had not .sold enough to ps.y nis freight and 

,.ras about leaving for l, ew orleRns he was a fun~n]y old fello r 

active ana_ had been intrus ted with e large amount of property other 

wise grocerise from the ohio river several ·farrn[erJs nad clubed 

togetn[er] Pnd made a large flat boat and put in all tneir spare 
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produce and sent this men down to sell it for them with his own went 

on down to New orleans and took in some more fre [i ]ght end went back 

to Alexandria sgain 

here the c::iptain cam[e] neEir getting into a bowie knife scrap 

on account of some freight thet had been lfmded and the owners had 

taken it eway and then would not pay the freight the captain rent 

and got a. knife and ent and demanded ·;ay or the goods so he could 

get his PDY out of them and flo[u]risned his bowie 8 while and the 

other perty the same but bystanders interfered and got tne matter 

settled And the cant got a check on the bank and got his money 

by this time re began to get sick of the co~ntery ·and the neople 

in it as a lPrfe number of [them] were cut throats and black legs/ ' 

Alex~mdria was a pretty little to m i"ri th pine trees g·rowing arnong·st 

the houses mi ch f:·AVe it 8 nretty eppearance from t.h.e ri Ver but 

Nate hi toches is not:n[i ]ng but some log huts with only 3 or 4 only 

common houses when we were there in in [sicJ the winter of 1822 & 3 

we got off as soon es we could for Ne orleans got there we 

found our old friend with the flat boat had sold out and spent the 

most of the mon[e]y and left for parts un~nown so his friends at 

home had to suffer . he had A fine lot Of farmers products horses 

cows ryigs fowls apple cider cheese butter peach brandy cider brandy 

whisk[e]y corn flour and in fine he had the finest lot of go[o]d 

provisions that I had ever seen nice and clean B.11 loss to the 

owners several thousand dollars worth and I wes told that was a 

freauent occurrence by the Ohio and Indiani.gns .. When they get to 

N. 0th[e] y get to garnbl [in]~· ~rnd loose all 

this was Saturdpy/fn the efternoon~ i:i gentleman came on board 

the boat and apnear[e)i to be en old friend of the captains and set 
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Rnd talke[d] verry fri[e]ndley with the capt about half an hour 

in about an hour after another gentleman 

came to the wharf and called the captain and told him he ·,ranted 

to spet:il{ to him the captain rent out and th[e]y walked off to 

get her in about half an hour t he capt came back and said did 

you see that man on shore that called me out I said yes well 

said the capt that as the sherrif the man that came here fimt 

has sued me for debt the capt said he cla[i]med .,.,400 on that 

steam boi:it or his boat on the engine 2nd the capt said heC- would 

not pay it for it r.vas an old one and w s not 1··ortn any tning like 

a lawy[e]r 
. 

he cherged for it So the capt went to and gave him 

~st and told him the facts in the case the lawyer told him the 

laws were verry strict in t nat citty about such tnin~s and said 

the plaintiff had all the 2dvantage of him and now said he you 

have one ~ay of esci:ipe left that is ge t up steam quictley [sic] in the 

morning Sunday end start off So we done and got off cl[e Jar 

but hAd no freight So 1-re worked our way back to St Louis without 

any freignt to pay our expenses So the cant lost about five 

hundrea_ dollars in his Ne ~r Orleans trade and got back· to st Louis 
..... h 

about the lOu February ~e remein[e]d in port a few days 

one day t~e capt cam[eJ to me and said tne boat could not pay 

e clerk now as there was not much business doing in freight but 

if the 2d nilot and I l·rnula take the barr vre might have all we 

coul d make out of it So we agreed to do it end got our supplies 

and had them C.rtPrg:ed to tr~e boat My brother was stil living with 

the Yess rs Powels the capt got about half a load of freight and 

a few oossengers and started for G8lena 

the day before we arrived at G-P.lena it comm enc [e Jd sno11,1ing · 
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and there ~·rns ice run[n]ing from the Mississiuni and we took a large 

keel in to' so we just moved but we got to the mouth of Fevere river 

after dark and it began to turn cold and I comme[n]c[eJa mak[i]ng 

way on fever river and when we got to gPlena. on ti.e morn [i ]ng of the 

23 February 1828 the ice nei:·rley farmed wa.s strong enougn for the boys 

to skate on all round the steamboat & here the boat laid for two 

vreeks frozen in 

the inhabitants hed been celeebratings. .lasningtons birth day 

before and in the evening th[e ]y pretended th8t 8 steam boat \'lras 

coming by c[ar]rying tne lead and firing cannon and hoaxed a good 

mRnY of tre citizens that came out to see if a boat had arrived end 

little did th[e ]y trink that a boat was so near at h~:ind and we 

should have got up on the 22d in. tim[e] for t.r~e celebration if we 

had not taken the keel boat in tow 

an old frenchman lived on the opposite side of tne river got 

up in the morning and came out and said god dam the steam boat what 

for he come here in the winter the old man felt hurt for he was a. 

trader end had about all the flour there was in town and was asking 

13~ per barrel but the boat had a 1 ot on boa rd so the old french-

man had to come down a. peg on his flour which made the old man sweer 

a little 

the cant of the boat got to gambling whilst he i,,ras froze up in 

galena and lost all his loose cash and being tied uu there so long 

made him verry cross and one d8y he got to scoldinp-::::::::- me because I 

was Rllf PYS Pway from the boat and did not sell anytning I got my 

dander up e little too and went ashore to a merchants by the name of 

Hernpst ead. that had borrowed my brothers pistols-- :- the ones we hed 

used so much at Fort Snelling I did not tell him what I wanted of 
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them. he let me hPve them and I ent down to the boat with a full 

determination to give the capt a chalange the 2d pilot my part-

ner in the berr business SFIW me with the box he mistrusted from 

the size and sh8pe of the box what I had end would not let me 

alone until I toia him what I wAs a going to do with t he pistols/# 

finally I told him I wes a going to chalange that old brute of a 

captain he set his head against it ci.t once and got hold of the 

pistols 8nd took them back again · I told him that I was not a 

going to stop on the boat to be abusec by that old fool of a cap-

ta in you may go where you like he said but as f~r your getting 

into a quarrel on this boat you cant do it as long as I . am on it/¢-

So I quit t~e boat ant ~nt to a friend of mine and boarded with 
If him about one week/from there I went to a public house to live and 

here I found a men by the name of holiday he had been sick f or 

8 month or more but was now convalessent an~ was making prepera-

tions to go to mining a.nd was t o get 2n outfit from my frie[n]d 

Mr Tillton one of the late partners of the old columbia fur 
l 

company ' Bo I nrouosed to join in and go halves in all we could 
f 

find in min[i]ng. So ge agreed to go over and see Mr Tillton on 

the subject . be fell in with the . plan at once and we got e. lot 

of tools and bedding and h ired a tee m to moove us out to the 

mining countery about the 20th March 1828 ''le m ooved end the zd 
d.?y we went end camped on a branch of the 11 ttle Platt built a 

tempora[r]y shAntey end commenc[e]d diggin[g] fo r lede ore We 

dug about a month and could find no mineral so we moved our cBmp 

further north one o_ay s travel onto one of tne branches of tne 

Pickatonica he re we built e small house out of little poplars 

and split some long oa1c shingles and covered our houus [sic, so we 
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were quite comfortable end comme[nce]a diggin the first hole I 

dug I found some VPrry pretty miner 1 and looked fair for a good 
lePd but on further worKing· He found it wes a few scattered lumps 
p,nd no lead end so we keu[tJ on difgin all su~mer I dug about 
200 holes from three to ten feet deep end did not find mineral 
enough to purchase a plug of tobacco notcwithstanding there were 
some good leads in tne neighborhood 

A young ffiRn by the nAme of Ihos ~cKni fht came and ~nt to 
diggin neerby us but found nothing o~ any velue also a man by 
the name of Jones ha<" been mining 4 years and had found compara-
tiveley nothin g also a mPn by tYe name of lJic1cson he had three 
or 4 men hired end two or ttree blac~ men hired they worked ell 
all [<> ic] summ[e]r and ell th[e].y found w s about two hundred 
dollars worth of minerPl 

~/Jy pPrtn,er an~ mys elf bought ci prospect of Mr Jones and 1,rent 
on to proove it at [sic] it lik:eley to be e. valuable lead, and a 
sheet about 8 inches thick lying r'lat underground Rbout four feet deep 
·as the first of our discoveries in tne prosi)e ct we had purc:r.:.a.sed/-' 

I had wor~ed myself completeley down 8nd thought I woul d have a 
restin~ spell and I hired a horse and went do~n to galena a good 
de.ys r_de he re I found the old Josephine and advertised for 
~ ort Snelling the thou?ht struck me at once heres a chance to 
go and see my wife · end boy 

1 t hRnuened ti.ere 11res a man from our place or diggins, in 
to1:m . I got him t- o ride the horse home again and I embarked on 
the old Josephine again/capt clark maste r -_.:;.the old capt and my-
self had for got ten Rll of our troubles in farmer times and we 
SPiled up to Fort Snellin~ verry friendley together 
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on our way un the capt told me tnat ~en he got back to st 

Louis th8t my brother hed attacked him about the trefltment that he 

had sho -m me while on his boat and said my brother told him plane-

ley thet he the capt ii-ras chPrf-eeble 1<ri th all the trouble and a.if-

ficulty thet ha~ risen between us the capt acknowledged that 

when he got into passion he would frequently s~d things that he 

OUfht not to sey and said thet I wes some Ft.Pt contri:iry and hard 

heaa.ed too wPs the reason we could not gt=>t c?lonF to~ether , _and 

for himself he should say nothinf about the matter, al though I had 

once intended to shoot him ·hen the boat 'PS frozleJ in at Galena
1 

#: 
Pfter lPnCcing 

So there was en end to thcit aft'alr J\ I went to tLe capt nd Ps'-ced 

what my fa.re 1'18S he said be believ[eJd there was something due 

me from the boat and we ill say even So said I and we parted 

good friends agsin 

I went now in seerch of mj old wo~an and boy I found them 

fi th the old folks where I hed left them at Me Ln Jaota all 1· ell 

R.nd an increase of femily a daughter had been added during my 

absence (now Mrs Pettijohn[)J1~hey had passed tne winter verry well 
[me] . ' · 

they informedAand had not suffered for any:-tning and had been 

quite hapuy and comfortable wnich wes more than I could boast of/¢ 

I concluded to stoD a whil~ with tnem so I stoped about two iee'-cs 

I told the old nman I must ~o again as an ouuortunity wa[s] 

off P.red so th8t I could get P DA.ssege with Mr Bailly . She ouposea. 

and wanted I should stay with them She said something might come 

ebout~ that we could live if we did live uoor that was nothing 

She had g:ot tired of' living elone and there was some traders that 

were all mys Rn[n]oying her end telling hur that I ~ould never 

come back &c &c and strongly oooosed my going down the river Bfain 
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I told her that I hR6 sorn[e]bu siness in the mines tnat I must go and 

Ptterrd to . She said I had been hard at NOrk all sum~ er] end nad 

mace nothing and sne did not see Nhat use there was of orking 

there for noth[i]nf, tnat I could stay Nith them and if I e rnt 

nothing I would be as well off if not better, ri th my family than 

I flOuld be roveing about . So I Agreed to go do~n and settle up my 

business nd come beck and live at rort Snellin€, . ~or not, and 

run the r sk of gettinf em~loyment . So I sterted with Mr !ailey 

in e. lfpkinAT..•T boat for Gelem:i agein . \ e were onley 5 or 6 dPys 

goine:; down . 

s soon as I 1 nded I rent ri £ht off to find my pRrtner Mr 

Holliday he wes flacl to see me he s id 1e anted some help/# 

I told him I could not stay t nat I ee going back to my family/ 
[~] 

this mride him haul;\down his beaa for I haQ all ·mys outdone him at 

ai~gin end could dig as much in one day as he ~o~ld in a day and 

a half l.O you cci.nt go he SB id . I must I cannot leave my fRmily 

eny longer well if you will I will quit elso so soon as I can 

get away So we settled u~ our eccounts end Mr Holliday took all 

end as to nay all tne aebts and to give me tnree hundred dollere 

if. t,e 1ronerty sold for enougn to bring that emount 

Whilst I was absent Mr holliday hed oroved up tne lead that 
[it J 

we hed bou~ht of Mr J0nes and f oundAdid not much more t~an oay 

exoense aftnr t k[i]ng of[f] t~e too minerel the lead took a 

oi tch into the rock in e sePm or crevice About hBlf n inch ·ride/ 

Mr H 1·mrked tr1e hJ rd roc'k do .rn 4 0 feet and the lePd kept getting 

thinn-e]r all tne ray down and at 1 st t ne rock fOt so hard and 

t11e le d wAs only PPS only [sic J about AS thick s a knife blade 

Pnd a gre t mR ny tools worn out So ~r hollidy abandoned the lead/ 

NJ; he had nothing left but a a [sis_] cla ·1 ]m of wood lflnd and a 
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[sic J 
good place for a furnaceA left hich he sold for 800~ and paid off 
the debts of our copa:rtnership and remained there all winter until 
the next f Rll 

I left the mines end went up t~ Prairie clu chien rith one Mr 
GrRha.m whom I f'ow1d at galena with a small keel boat fitting out 
to go into the pineries to cut pine logs to raft to st Louis ~e 
~ot ury to Prerie duchien ~v:r . Brunette wno was to assist Mr 
Graham informed. him thet the Government had forbid people f rom 
cutting uine timber and thRt he could not go into the countery So 
thPt broke un the old fentlemens business and left him es poor as 
I 'as myself and a large family of chi ldren to look after 

this Mr CTraham was a caotain in the la.st war under one col 
Dickson on the British side these two officers took down a com-
pany of Sioux Indians as f Pr as SRnduskey and tney were at the 
battle wr_en Q_ol Crogen defeated the Eri ti sh and drove t r~em off , 
the Siouy Indians end their off'icers were frightened allmost to 
death 'hen ttey saw t he Britis~ f allinf by hundreds the Indians 
of ell nations that were t nere of waich there were a good many 

[? J secreted the:nsel ves t t e best th [e ]y coul6.. by f erri es-;i end ditches 
and ·oods &c until tne fi gtt was over when the Indians made off 
as fast as th[e]y could anQ_ verry gl ad th[e ]y were to get off 
from the Bwful si g·r_t of so mAny dead and dieing .t r..e Ind ians said 
the sigri t wPs awful and t r:e Sioux and and [sicJ their off icers made 
the best of t heir way home egain havi ng been provisioned end. cloth-
ed by t be 5ritish at MisillimRckinack or Macki na 1 . 

after I arrivea et Prairie duchien I looked round to see if 
there was any chance to g-e t some emul oyment in the Indian trad.e 
but ~11 the ~ osts were 8UDnlied with clerks end internreters but 
Mr Brunette wanted me to go to Ga lena t:1nd sell some c orn for him 
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and uurchRse some dr y goods for him as he had a number of' men at 

work for him getting wood for e contract for t ne fort and paid his 

hends pertly in goods So went ork 8.nd filled up 2 or 300 bushels 

of corn ~ma_ shined it on the Fed rover Oapt Throckmorton maste r 

and sail[e]d for Gelene again and back Mr Brunet te 1as verry well 

satisfied and sent me back agein and I done so well with the corn 

when I got back he sciid I must go again 
LCPme] 

during my absence from tne Prairie my ife . with hur children 

and her father and mothe r with he r and I found them in their tent 

near ~r Brunetts I had been gone so long they said _,,~ 

thLe]y had got lonesome and come down to see whet had becbme of 

me the boat 1,ras in a hurry to be of!' so I hurr{i ]ed round and 

got my folks some nrovisions and some clo~hing and told them to 

go up to he foot of Lake pepin and there °t'1ait for me where my 

fptherinlaws brother lived 1here there was game and th[e]y could 

live much cheRper than at the Prairie and got onto the steamboat 

and went down to gelena Rg'Rin and sold another lot of corn for 

Mr Brunett And came back ~r B ras ~ell satisfied . this ras the 

last trin Mr Brun(e~te ha given me a note to collect for him 

on a man by the neme of turne[~] end told me too sue if he refused 

to pay So I went end f~uLd tne fentleman but he would not pay 

the note so I sued him but he had been elected_ to the Illinois 

legi..sla.ture and on his way and t Le law could not stop hiinfa~ I 

left the cese in the hands of Pn officer to be attended to after 

he came back and took his roed & I mine 

I loafed about galena a few days nothing to do about this 
[ ·. J . 

time one Mr Kurchevp Aarri vec'. t{Jere with a lerge lot of Innian 

goods ~r r.unt fro1.1 ;.)etroi t a brot11erinla of Mrs Snelling was 

in ci1Prge I went to Mr ~runette .and asked him to get a fe of 



117. 

the goods end I rould go up to the foot of the lake and trade for 

the winter So he went and ma.de arNrngements for five hundred 
~r B ee~Pd somP t~inos more 1~ich ~~re ~e auite a little 0 ssortTient 

dollars vrorth of cloth[e]s Bnd bl8n1de]ts and_AMr .B. got two lerge 
for the trBCP So 
cenoes end 6 men end started me off [in] it late in :ovember-and cola 

and 1rn hcd the had the [sic] hardest kind of work to get up for 

the ice WBS runing verry thick-:=:::: before we rea.ched our point for 

to winter but ~ got up the men took one cPnoe and stPrted do n 

through the runing ice and f!'Ot do n before L ... e river closed 

I took my goods and stored them in Mr Grahams house and went 

out in search of my wife and f oun6 she and all the family had 

gone out huntin~ upon tne riv Pr Zombroe or Brusney river I found 

them one days march with t~eir unckle t r ey had killed som e] 

deer anc ~lk, and haa lived verry rell and comfortable tne next 

morning we took our lug~age and started tack to tne place where 

we were to ,rtnte r we had heavy loa.·a.s and were verry tired when 

we got in as we hed ·to carry ell on our heads with straps I had 

no hous[e] for myself and had to fix up our tent to live in 

throuvn t ~ e ~nter We put Jolls and hay all round the tPnt and 

I# 
mA<'1e 1 t tolerable comfortable So by storing my goods in Mr Grc>hams 

house I hPd room enouf!h And I boerded with Mr Greyrem a few days 

until I fnund thet B.n old frenchmPn thcit he hRd was stealing my 

provisions and givin~ ttem elmy to tne opposition traders '~ 

went in~o breekfeast I as_-<;:ed tr e old m n if he had been giving 

my pork to the men of the o~position he first deni[eJd it but 

I told him he need not deny it for I had found out all about it 

from the men of the other hous[e] ne then acknowledged that 

he hed taken some before all et t~e table I turned to Mr Grehem 

end told him that I could not eet ith a thief and if he was 

determined to keep t:r...e 016 thief at the tabele r · could not eat 
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·Ji th them Mr G seid nothing so I got up .and left the table and 

the next meal I had cooked and eat in the tent Mr GrAham found 

he could do nothine:- where [heJ was v'i th a · large family and concluded 

to moove back to Fort Snelling again and in a few days 2 teams 

came for tr.em and ·they mo ovea back back [sic] on tne ice and I 

moved into his house and passed the winter 

the ouuosition hed got in e month before me and given all 

the Indians a credit and sent them off to hunt So tLat I saw 

no IndiBns until they returned from their 1· inter hunts and the 

moment the I ndians arrived the trader went round gath0 red up all 

the furs and the Indians h a nothing to trade So I made no 

packs this winter ::md in the spring I moved up to the head of the 

leke and lived in my tent smongst tre Indians about a m6nth and 

traded e few furs and sent them down to Mr brunettes 

Whilst I ·was clnwn at the foot of the lake in the winter some 

teams (:J rri ved there from 'Prairie duchien . a trader by the neme 

of LP fre!T'boi s we s tbe man from tne !vlinnes ot a river in the even-

ing they sent for ~e the clerk of the opposition house a half 

breed by tne name of Pi ere .::::::Ortabis anc:. Mr Laframbois compliments 

for me to nass the evenif1g and to play a f8't" games at cards I 

went over all social heving been acquainted before end e sat 

down end commenc[e]d nlaying for ~rnusement after a little ~r 

Le!rambois ~ot un and went ou~ and did not return I sat end 

played un~il I g-ot tired and no ~r Lcif'rPmbois cRme and got up to 

go home but Mr Orte bis insisted on my stayinf long-Pr~ that \1r 

Lafrarnbois would. be in in a moment I began to think that some 

thing was not.rlfht And started and went home found ell cuiet 

2nd no person t:'nere but my 1. if [e] and an old frenchm?n that had_ 

CPm[e] uu from Prairie duchien and brought a load of' provisions 

... 
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for me I went to bed and went to sleep the next morning my wife 
esked Bsked [s ic] me why I hRd. staid so long sne said that trader 
Mr Lafrembois had been over ther[e] all the evening an[n]oying her/~ 
I started right over to ~r Ortabis and found Lafrembois had start-
ed at day light expecting that I v-rould be after him So I tackled 
the ot he r and. ·swore by a11 · that WPS good that he kneF nothing 

ebout the matter and thet it was not. a concerted plan of .his So 

I could do nothing and heving no fears of tne chastity of my rife 

the thing~ had to sto~ then the Laframboise is one of the persons 
th.Pt my wife complained to me of AS enoying her wben she was alone 
end opposed my leavin~ her alone aney more 

iri the spring I moved up to Fort Snellinf and vot an old hous 
of the Indian agent and moved into it and passed the summer loef-

iner ebout I [had P] few fOods left and let one Duncan CRm~bell 

have the most of them to go and trade them at a profit So he 
went off with the goods and traded a considerable lot of furs and 
~ent of~ and sold them & kept all the proceedes 

flat broke again 

So I wa.s left 

in the fell Mr Brunette sent u~ to see if I had any more furs 
as he hDd to settle for the goods I packe[d] up what few I had 
and rent do rn while I was at Mr Erunettes the fall before I hod 
left my pa Prs th::it I got of Mr Hon1ataJ y with him in part payment 
of the goods and he had sent them co 1n and coll[e]cted the amount 
ana what furs I hal; cou[l]d not nay upBnd whilst I vas getting 

reP~Y to go down to see Mr Brunette Mr ~olliday arrived with Mr 
M[c ]Knig-ht before nPmed~ at l•i r Langhams the subagent on his 
w:iy to issouri ne ante - to know hy I geve my papers to Mr 
Erunette did you not nromise to keep them yourself I told him 
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I hPd promised to keep them as lonf as I could and thet he had been 
so long making c=iny returns from our lead business that thBt [sic] 
I wes obl[i]ged to let them go to live Well said he there was 
not enou~h cleared to pey all but I ueid it and you.are som[e]-
thing in my 6ebt but I kne~ this could not be for I knew from 
the amount receiv[e]d for the wood claim would pay all debts and 
leave something besides So I never troubled myself about paying 
him and he never troubled me more about the matter 

I set out for Prairie duchien again and left my wife with her 
parents Flf'"Bin we hPa B cold boisterous time of it going down/4 ' 

'"le Yent down in a lArge keel boat and it was le.te in November the 
wind blew a gale some tim[eJs so the boat could .not move beeing 
worked by hPnd SFePpS f'in::illy a mi.ssiontiry a RevCeJrfe]nd Mr Coe 
in a bark canoe arid I got in i th him and the man th.Pt r•i r Lrunette 
had sent U:;J after me and went one day and had to lay too the [wind] 
blew so hPrd----~we could do nothing with our c;:inoe after P whlle 
the olfl 'keell cem [e J dri v Ci ]ng along before the v'ind Ue started 
~nd with .much difficulty we vot on board Mr Coe would go with us/~ 
this was Saturday even[i]ng and ~r . C. seid he would not travel 
on Sunday and went ashore and staid all ni ~ht at e traders and 
passed the Sabbath there we f loated on down but soon ~ot blowed 
into some tree tops wnere it took us til near sundo m to ge t off/# 
We floated a short distance and tied up for tne night 

the next morning it was verry cold but calm .le were no 1 

neer prPirie le cross so nam[e]d from the fact it was 2 fine 
prairie below the mouth of Bleck ~iver Wisconsin l~ere the Indiens 
used to go to uley ball . Went on very ~ell until ~e got within 
about 30 miles of PrBi rie auchien ,. e st oped f"or the night Pnd 




